
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Scrutiny 
Committee

Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor A Bardoe Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor J Burrell Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor R M Currans Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor A S Sandhu MBE
Councillor Mrs M B Kelly Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor C S McLean

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 13 September 2016

at 7 pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Tuesday 13 September 2016

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of any grants of dispensation.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 April 2016 (Pages 1 - 
12)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

5. To consider references from other Committees (IF ANY) 

There are no references from other Committees at present.

6. Chairman's Update 

7. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 13 
- 16)

To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 
August 2016 to 31 December 2016. 

8. Dartford Cricket Club in Hesketh Park - Update 

To receive an update from Dartford Cricket Club representatives and 
Council officers.

9. Disposal of Dartford Household Waste - Presentation by Kent 
County Council 
Presentation from David Beaver, Head of Waste Management, Kent 
County Council.



10. Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax (Draw-Down) (Pages 17 
- 66)

To receive a verbal update from the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) concerning the Report and Appendices submitted to 
Cabinet of 2 June 2016.

11. Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2015-16 (Pages 67 
- 112)

To consider the Committee’s draft Annual Report for the 2015-16 
municipal cycle (as attached at Appendix A) for submission to the 
General Assembly of the Council.

12. Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2016-17 (Pages 
113 - 116)

To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for the 2016-17 
municipal cycle, as set out in the draft Work Plan (attached as 
Appendix A to the report) and to suggest further topics for scrutiny by 
the Committee, together with agreed timeframes.



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 19 April 2016 
at 7.30 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor P Cutler
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor M A Maddison (Substitute)
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor J Burrell
Councillor Mrs M B Kelly
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor D Page

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal)
Peter Dosad – Head of Housing Services
Paul Koster
Stephen Jefferson

– Housing Maintenance Manager
– Leisure & Communities Officer

PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:

Mr Bill Archer
Mr Jason Outram

– President, Dartford Football Club
– Director, DFC

CABINET MEMBERS: Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio Holder for 
Housing

33. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors J Burrell, Mrs 
M B Kelly, C S McLean and Mrs D Page (Substitute Cllr. M Maddison).

The Chairman welcomed Mr Bill Archer, President of Dartford Football Club 
(DFC) to the meeting and his fellow Director at DFC Mr Jason Outram.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 19 APRIL 2016

2

The Strategic Director (Internal Services), the Head of Housing Services, the 
Housing Maintenance Manager and the Leisure & Communities Officer were 
also welcomed to the proceedings by the Chairman.

34. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

35. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 2 
FEBRUARY 2016 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 2 February 2016 be confirmed as 
accurate.

36. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman confirmed that there were no urgent items for consideration.

37. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other committees.

38. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED: 

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 11 March 2016 to 
31 July 2016 as published, listing forthcoming Key Decisions be noted.

The Chairman reminded Members that Cabinet reports could be Drawn-Down 
at a later stage for consideration.

39. PRINCES PARK ANNUAL UPDATE 

The Chairman renewed his welcome to the President of Dartford Football 
Club (DFC) and invited him to speak to the report. Mr Archer was content for 
the Committee to discuss the report as tabled and to respond to any 
subsequent questions that arose.

The Chairman reminded Members of the background to the Princes Park 
Annual Update report coming to the Scrutiny Committee. The Club received 
an annual grant from the Council; some £90K in the 2015/16 financial year; to 
provide facilities and services for the Dartford community under the terms of 
an agreed Service Level Agreement (SLA) which was due to end in March 
2017. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 19 APRIL 2016

3

The Chairman proposed that the Committee examine in greater detail, the 
wider relationship between the Council and the Club in terms of community 
engagement and the provision for health and wellbeing initiatives for Dartford 
residents under the current SLA due to end in March 2017. He invited 
Members to pose questions to the Club’s representatives drawing on the 
contents of the report and in the wider context of enhanced community 
provision.

In subsequent debate the Club President and the Council’s Leisure & 
Communities Officer confirmed the following points for Members:

 Ladies football had not been a success at DFC in the past, but was 
now thriving at Under 13, 14, 15 and 16 age-groups. The current 
Senior team was based on a previous Under 14 group which had 
progressed through the ranks at DFC. It was hoped to form a Post 16 
educational football Academy squad in conjunction with Leigh 
Academy in September 2016, with girls from that joint venture forming 
the basis of the 2016/17 DFC Ladies Senior team. Overall figures for 
girls / ladies currently playing at all levels in DFC teams would be made 
available to the Committee;

 DFC retained a strong link with Millwall Ladies FC who would continue 
to train and play some of their matches at Princes Park in the 2016/17 
season. The continued presence of Millwall LFC at Princes Park 
provided Dartford girls and ladies with an enhanced opportunity to play 
league football at the second highest tier of the Ladies game in 
England [FA WSL2];

 The funding for the DFC school sites established at Wilmington 
Academy, Wilmington Grammar School and Dartford Grammar School 
came from County funding. Precise details would be relayed to 
Members following the meeting;

 The Community Outreach Programme established by DFC had 
provided strategically placed ‘outreach sites’ which gave Dartford youth 
the opportunity to play football at every level in Kent as well as 
progressing via the DFC Academy into the 1st team and beyond. The 
DFC Academy was admired throughout the Football League and now 
had its first former player playing in the Premier League for Norwich 
City;

 Tree Estate and Temple Hill were the most successful ’outreach sites’ 
benefiting from very experienced staff and an excellent parent 
connection with both school and DFC programme staff. Success was 
measured by the number of pupils who participated in the sports 
scheme and performed well academically;

 Mini Pitch bookings had shown further increases quarter on quarter 
from 2014 with additional bookings having been secured with Dartford 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 19 APRIL 2016

4

District Sports, Tesco Skills and the FA. Demand for a further Mini 
Pitch at Princes Park existed for the peak evening and week-end 
hours, which now attracted a waiting list.  Bookings for the middle of 
the day remained a problem however, despite the offer of free pitches, 
with schools unable/unwilling to pay the transportation costs for pupils 
to and from Princes Park. Demographic data for age and location of 
users of the Princes Park facilities was not available. Mini Pitches were 
available to users 5 years old and upwards. Location data could be 
derived from reference to team names and booking addresses if 
required by the Committee. Footfall for golf usage was available but not 
on a demographic basis;

 DFC’s contribution in helping the Council to meet its Corporate 
Objectives in terms of health and wellbeing and community 
engagement was made easier by the long-standing relationship 
between the Club and the Council. The Club President knew which 
Councillors and Directors to approach concerning joint initiatives and 
the reverse was true of Council Officers approaching DFC with 
proposals. In terms of the Club’s needs these had always been met by 
the Council in the past. A future need for the Club would be renovation 
of the Princes Park Artificial Turf Pitch which was now 10 years old;

 DFC’s football programmes and league teams for teenagers in 
Dartford, by definition, helped to address the high rate of childhood 
obesity in the Borough which was above the Kent average. Healthy 
Lifestyle initiatives in conjunction with the Council had helped in the 
past to galvanise concern over health issues in Dartford. 

 The new SLA between the Council and the Club due to take effect from 
1 April 2017 would offer a fresh opportunity to investigate the potential 
links with existing Health and Wellbeing initiatives in Dartford in a 
formalised  and accountable manner;

 The fiscal terms of the new SLA with the Club from April 2017 were 
being taken forward by the Council’s Financial Services Manager under 
the overall guidance of the Strategic Director for Internal Services as 
the Council’s Section 151 Officer.

Members praised the excellent golf facility in Prices Park and noted the 
‘Walking Football for over 55s’ initiative.

In concluding the debate, the Chairman of Scrutiny re-affirmed his objective 
for the Committee to examine the link between the Council and the Club and 
explore how DFC could help the Authority to fulfil its Corporate Objectives in 
the areas of community engagement and the provision of health and 
wellbeing initiatives. He thanked the DFC President and his Director for 
attending and responding to Members questions and paid tribute to the 
special relationship between Club and Council and the significant role DFC 
played in the Dartford community.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 19 APRIL 2016

5

40. AFFORDABLE HOUSING COMPLETIONS (CABINET 3 MARCH 2016) 

The Committee considered an update report which provided further 
information on the number of new affordable homes that had been completed 
in the Borough over the previous 3 (three) year period; following the report 
submitted to Cabinet on 3 March 2016  - Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators (Cabinet Min. No. 117).

The Head of Housing Services had nothing to add to the contents of the self-
explanatory update report but gave Members the following general 
background to the provision of affordable housing in the Borough.
 
The Council’s role in the provision of affordable housing in Dartford was one 
of facilitator, with the aim of enabling the maximum number of units to be built 
on individual sites and to monitor delivery within the context of the current 
economic climate, rising land and housing costs and the availability of 
government funding.

In practical terms the Council’s Development Control Board (DCB) supported 
by the Council’s Planning Policy, Housing and Legal Services Departments 
with input from independent experts, carried out the various roles of facilitating 
and approving new build projects including; liaison with developers and 
housing associations to ensure that the provision of affordable housing was 
optimised, and as far as possible, met the Borough’s housing needs.

Targets and numbers were difficult to control in an unpredictable market and 
required careful handling and encouragement of all parties in the process by 
Council Officers. The demise of the Government grant to Housing 
Associations had been a major factor for the affordable housing market and 
had reduced Association activity in terms of investment and future provision in 
the sector, particularly in relation to the provision of social rented 
accommodation.

Appendices A and B to the Cabinet report set out in sub-categories the 
number of affordable housing units completed in Dartford in the financial 
years 2013/14 to 2015/16 [to date]. Figures for the last complete year of 
activity (2014/15) showed that Dartford was top of the ‘Kent table’ of local 
authorities’ affordable housing completions per 1,000 residents with 151 
completions. This was a significant achievement and a trend set to continue in 
the 2016/17 cycle with a further 159 affordable units due to be completed.

The Chairman welcomed Dartford’s achievement in topping the 2014/15 ‘Kent 
table’ for units of affordable housing completions (report Appendix B); but 
sought to place that achievement in the context of meeting the overall housing 
need in the Borough. Individual Members thought the use of a straight number 
target as a Performance Indicator (PI) for affordable housing also lacked 
context; both in relation to overall housing need in the Borough and the 
differing demands in Dartford for affordable rented and shared or discounted 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 19 APRIL 2016

6

ownership. It was noted in this respect that the majority of Dartford’s 
affordable housing units completed in 2014/15 had been discounted sales 
(131). In contrast, Tunbridge Wells Council (2nd in ‘Kent table’) had no 
discounted sale units in the period under review, but had greatly out-
performed Dartford in the provision of affordable rental units (141). This made 
genuine like for like comparisons between Authorities in the Kent table difficult 
and to a certain extent, not truly representative.

The Head of Housing Services advised Members that the Council did not set 
great store by the ‘Kent table’ results which were only one indicator in a 
complex housing picture. There were a number of additional indicators to 
assess Housing performance in the Borough based on the Red, Amber, 
Green ‘traffic light’ system as regularly advised to the Resident’s Forum and 
the Joint Liaison Group. 

He was not aware of any other preferable method to record performance for 
affordable housing units completed, other than in terms of a single target 
figure. However, he noted Dartford’s ‘low’ figure for ‘Affordable Rented ‘ 
property built  in the year under review (2014/15) and would ask the Housing 
Policy & Development Manager to drill down into her figures [report Appendix 
B] and advise Members further. The ending of the Government grant to 
Housing Associations had severely curtailed the ability of those partner bodies 
to fully participate in this important sector of the market and overall provision 
had inevitably reduced as a result. 

Members were advised that in terms of comparability with other Kent 
authorities, Dartford was more London orientated in terms of its housing 
needs. The perceived need for social housing in the Borough was based 
primarily on housing the 900 Dartford residents already on the Council’s 
Housing Register [waiting list]. The Register did not take account of any need 
for starter properties or shared ownership requirements; given that residents 
on the Register did not have the financial capacity to purchase such options. 
A monitoring exercise to gauge the extent of such requirements in the 
Borough might be considered in the future. 

In response to specific questions from Members, the Head of Housing 
Services confirmed the following points:

 The Council had planning permission for some 80 new council 
homes for rent; completion of the first 25 homes under 
construction on Temple Hill were due to be completed by Spring 
2016, with a further 51 homes at the Shaftesbury Lane site due 
for completion in the next 12 month period, together with a 
further 6 homes at Temple Hill Square [report para 4 agenda 
p.14];

 A further 20 homes were planned in the following 3 year period. 
However, the Government’s 1-4-1 Right to Buy (RTB) 
replacement property finance initiative whereby Authorities 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 19 APRIL 2016

7

retained partial RTB receipts from Council house sales to fund 
new build replacements, was under review as part of the work to 
re-draft the Council’s HRA Business Plan, following the 
Government’s decision to reduce HRA rents by 1% for 3 years;

 New sites for building were more problematical for the HRA to 
own and build on with all the best sites already gone. The new 
Housing and Planning Bill, expected to be announced in the 
Queen’s Speech, could also have financial implications for all 
local authorities;

 Shared ownership and Starter Homes were central Government 
initiatives [to help address the housing crisis] and any impact 
these measures might have in driving up house prices locally or  
nationally were a matter for the Government to address, not the 
Council. Any proposals from developers for shared housing / 
starter home projects in Dartford were assessed by the Planning 
Policy Section for viability. The Council’s priority remained the 
900 applicants in need of social housing presently on the 
Housing Register for whom shared ownership was not an 
available option on financial grounds;

 Targets for completed housing units were set in 2014/15 for the 
2015/16 cycle. Completions had been lower than anticipated at 
103 units [report para 4.1 Agenda p.13] for a variety of reasons 
including; developer issues over cash-flow and materials and 
labour issues, resulting in both the Glaxo and Mill Pond sites 
being slow to start. The Council had a good working relationship 
with the developers who were confident that the lost time would 
be made up, financial and commercial business constraints 
permitting. Any units completed after 31 March 2016 would 
show in the 2016/17 completion figures.

In subsequent general discussion Members identified the need to increase the 
current and future provision of social housing in the Borough; both to meet the 
current needs of the 900 applicants already on the Council’s Housing Register 
and to meet future requirements, e.g. to attract key workers to Dartford to staff 
Darenth Valley Hospital [currently undergoing a recruitment crisis]. 

Members noted that Housing Associations were no longer interested in 
developing smaller sites for social housing projects given the cut in their 
Government grant and agreed that Section 106 agreements with developers 
for the provision of mixed and varied social and affordable housing remained 
the best tool at the Council’s disposal. Members expressed concern over the 
Government’s new Housing and Planning Policy Bill and any impact the Bill 
might have on the future provision of social housing in the Borough achieved 
through Section 106 agreements.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 19 APRIL 2016

8

In concluding the debate, the Chairman acknowledged the usefulness of 
Corporate Plan Performance Indicators (CPPIs) to record numbers of 
affordable housing units completed against target; as set out in the Cabinet 
report of 3 March 2016. However, he also expressed his concern that such 
Performance Indicators did not address the core issue, which was the 
adequate provision of affordable housing for Dartford residents now and in the 
future. He proposed that the Committee examine in greater detail the 
effectiveness of the Council’s current housing policy in meeting the needs of 
residents in the Borough now and in the future and the decisions of Cabinet in 
furthering that policy effectively.

Officers advised that the effectiveness of Council policy and Cabinet decisions 
[in furtherance of that policy] were the purview of the Policy Overview 
Committee (POC) and that Scrutiny Members should refer their concerns to 
POC for a balanced view and response.

 RESOLVED:

1. That having considered the report and heard from Officers the 
Committee expressed its concerns regarding:

(a) the current level of provision of social housing in the Borough (including 
new build) and in particular, the continued requirement for social 
housing of the 900 residents currently on the Council’s Housing 
Register; and 

(b) the impact of the Government’s proposed Housing and Planning Bill on 
the future provision of social housing in the Borough, with particular 
regard to that achieved through Section 106 agreements; and 

that the concerns of the Committee as set out at 1 (a) and 1 (b) above         
be referred to the Policy Overview Committee for their consideration 
and response. 

41. PERCENTAGE OF URGENT AND NON-URGENT REPAIRS COMPLETED 
ON TIME (CABINET 3 MARCH 2016) 

The report provided Members with further information on the percentage of 
urgent and non-urgent repairs completed on time; following the report to 
Cabinet of 3 March 2016 [Cabinet Min. No. 117 - Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators refers]. 

The Head of Housing Services confirmed that the re-active repair service 
undertaken by the contractor Breyer for Council properties had under-
preformed in both the Urgent and Non-Urgent categories in the final two (2) 
quarters of the 2015/16 cycle. 

Full details were set out in sub-paragraphs 4.2 to 4.4 of the report based on 
the 11 Months (48 weeks) of data available. The headline figures for Urgent 
repairs were a 93% performance against a 98% target - equating to a shortfall 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 19 APRIL 2016

9

of 5 repairs per week below target. Non-Urgent performance was down to 
87% against a similar target of 98% - equating to a shortfall of 11 repairs per 
week below target. Performance in both repair categories was expected to 
recover and improve towards target in the 1st Quarter of the 2016/17 cycle as 
set out in paragraphs 5 and 6 of the report.

In response to specific questions from Members the Head of Housing 
Services and the Housing Maintenance Manager confirmed the following 
points:

 25% of Council properties required no repairs and were never visited 
by the Contractor;

 Approximately 11,000 repairs had been completed on 3,000 properties 
in the 2015/16 period under review to date [48 weeks]. This was seen 
as a relatively high repair to property ratio, but the Head of Housing 
Services explained the context and advised that this PI was kept under 
regular review;

 High tenant expectation was a major contributory factor towards the 
relatively high number of property repairs undertaken by the Contractor 
some of which, it could be argued, would not be undertaken by a 
home-owner on cost grounds;

 The Council’s Housing Estate represented a significant capital asset 
and needed to be maintained appropriately and funded accordingly. 
Repairs had decreased in number over the last 3-4 year period. This 
was seen as a success and an indicator that the Council’s investment 
policy in the Housing Estate, split between the Capital Programme 
(77%) and the Reactive Repair Programme (23%) was working;

 The Council continued to pay the contractor for repairs undertaken 
based on 2010 tender prices. Members were advised that the contract 
with Breyer was being reviewed with a view to extend or re-tender to 
the market place. If a decision to re-tender to the open market was 
taken, a different contract model would be considered based on x £s 
per annum and possibly a flat rate charge per property per annum, 
irrespective of the number of individual repairs undertaken per 
property. Paying a future contract in monthly instalments rather than in 
an annual lump sum was a further policy change being considered. 
The funding of emergency repairs would be funded separately;

 The service provided by the current contractor Breyer was good with 
only 6.99% of repairs requiring a return visit based on a survey of 15% 
of 11,000 repairs undertaken per annum. There was no pattern of 
multiple returns or poor workmanship and data exchange with Breyer 
was open and transparent;



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 19 APRIL 2016

10

 The Council faced a decision whether to renew the current contract 
with Breyer for 3 years with annual break clauses based on 
performance, or to re-let the contract in the open market.  There were 
potentially only 10-12 contractors currently operating in the market who 
could meet the Council’s varied and complex needs;

 The relationship with the current contractor Breyer was good and the 
company regarded the Council contract as a flag-ship operation. The 
incentive for Breyer to seek a renewal was therefore high and the 
company were keen to do so at a reduced annual rate, which indicated 
that savings could be made and value for money (VfM) optimised;

 Breyer’s current overall performance was good when viewed in the 
round, in particular regarding the management of VOID properties and 
emergency repairs (99.88% completion rate) with few complaints from 
residents and tenants;

 The current contract [and any future agreement] was subject to penalty 
clauses for missed targets (5%) but this had never been an issue with 
Breyer to date. The current relationship was good and the contractor 
was responding well following the ‘missed’ repair targets in the last 2 
(two) quarters in the 2015/16 cycle;

 Quality of response would continue to be a key factor for the Council if 
a contract extension was approved. Possible changes in the new 
contract could pass the responsibility for taking repair calls to the 
contractor, which should increase overall response times and 
efficiency;

 The Head of Housing Services added that the Resident’s Forum were 
supportive of the extension and the measures to improve the KPI (Key 
Performance Indicator);

 The decision to extend the current contract with Breyer for 12 months 
with a strong ‘no-fault’ break clause as dictated by the SD (IS) and the 
MD was not seen as a risk, or liable to make the contractor 
complacent. Rather, the break clause was seen as a motivating factor 
and the prospect of a further 2 year contractual arrangement a further 
encouragement for the contractor to perform to a high standard;

 The Council’s 98% target for the completion of both Urgent and Non-
Urgent repairs was viewed as ‘stretching’ but achievable and a further 
measure to ensure the contractor did not become complacent.

The Cabinet Portfolio holder for Housing, attending in an observer capacity, 
paid particular tribute to the vital role played by tenants in the Resident’s 
Forum and the Joint Liaison Group with Members and in helping to resolve 
housing matters on a daily basis through their contact with Officers. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 19 APRIL 2016

11

RESOLVED:

That Members note the report.

The meeting closed at 9.10 pm

Councillor J S Hawkes
CHAIRMAN





15 August 2016 - 31 December 2016

1 of 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been possible 
to obtain payment because of 
insolvency, because the ratepayer cannot 
be traced or where the debt is otherwise 
irrecoverable.

Cabinet
8 Sep 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of Council Tax

To consider writing-off Council Tax 
where it has not been possible to obtain 
payment because the taxpayer cannot be 
traced or the debt is otherwise 
irrecoverable.

Cabinet
8 Sep 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs

To consider writing-off Housing Benefit 
overpayments where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment, where the 
Tribunals Service has exercised its 
discretion not to recover overpaid sums 
or where recovery is not permissible 
under the relevant Housing Benefit or 
Council Tax Benefit Regulations.

Cabinet
8 Sep 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)



3 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Local Scheme of Support for 
Council Tax

To approve revisions to the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme to be 
effective from 1 April 2017.

Cabinet
27 Oct 2016

General Assembly 
of the Council
12 Dec 2016

Public consultation via 
website.

Consultation with Major 
preceptors.

Report to Cabinet 2 
Jun 2016

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)
Tel: 01322 343632
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN





CABINET
2 JUNE 2016

LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX

1. Summary

1.1 This report updates Cabinet on the progress that has been made on the review of the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme in liaison with the other Kent authorities and presents 
the draft consultation document detailing the potential modifications to the current 
approved Council Tax Reduction Scheme for Members’ approval. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the work undertaken within Kent collectively and the resultant options appraisal, 
set out in Appendix A, be noted.

2.2 That the draft consultation document shown at Appendix B detailing the potential 
modifications to the current approved Council Tax Reduction Scheme be agreed and 
that the Strategic Director (Internal Services) be granted delegated authority to make 
any final amendments to the consultation material in liaison with the Leader and the 
Finance Portfolio Holder.

2.3 That the draft Customer Access Review shown at Appendix C be approved and that 
this be published alongside the consultation document.

2.4 That a further report be presented to Cabinet on the results of the consultation.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) was introduced by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) in April 2013 
as a replacement for the Council Tax Benefit (CTB) scheme administered on 
behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP).

3.2. As part of its introduction, the Government set out a number of key 
elements:

   The duty to create a local scheme for working age applicants was 
placed with billing authorities;

   Government funding to authorities was reduced by the equivalent of 
10% from the levels paid through benefit subsidy under the previous 
CTB scheme; and

   Persons of pension age would be protected under regulations 
prescribed by Government.

3.3. Across Kent, a common approach was adopted for the design of local 
schemes, but with local variants to reflect the needs of each district. Broadly 
the new schemes replicated the former CTB scheme but with a basic 



CABINET
2 JUNE 2016

reduction in entitlement for working age claimants. In line with the 
Government’s decision that pensioners would see no reduction in their 
maximum entitlement from that under the old CTB rules, the maximum 
entitlement for working age claimants in Dartford was reduced under the 
new scheme by 18.5%. This ensured that estimated expenditure was 
matched with available Government grant funding.

3.4. Since its introduction in April 2013, the Council’s local scheme has been 
reviewed annually to reflect changes in the Government’s figures for 
allowances, premiums and disregards and non-dependent deductions but 
the core elements remain as were originally agreed. 

3.5. The scheme is underpinned by a Kent-wide agreement which recognises 
that all the Kent districts (as billing authorities) will follow a common 
approach to designing their local schemes. In return, the major precepting 
authorities (Kent County Council, Kent Police and Kent and Medway Fire 
and Rescue) agreed to collectively pay to each district an ‘administration 
fee’ of £125,000 each year, for three years, to assist with the costs of 
delivering and managing the scheme. The original three year agreement 
ceased on 31 March 2016, but as reported to Cabinet on 3 December 2015, 
it was agreed that the scheme would effectively ‘roll on’ for one more year, 
subject to a full review of the scheme being undertaken during 2016/17.

Scope of the review

3.6. The focus of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme introduced by this Council 
was to target support at those most in need whilst incentivising more 
residents into work. This will continue to be the focus of the scheme moving 
forward.

3.7. When the new scheme started in April 2013, approximately 2,500 Dartford 
households had to pay council tax for the first time. As expected, collecting 
the council tax due from this group of customers has proved more difficult, 
however, by having a sensible focus on these accounts and taking 
appropriate recovery action, the in-year collection rate for this group is high 
at 84.6% (for the year ended 31 March 2016). The ‘administrative fee’ paid 
by the major precepting authorities has been essential in assisting with the 
costs of processing applications and in the recovery of debts.

3.8. The overall level of applicants, both working age and pension age, has 
fallen since the introduction of the local scheme, with 5,871 claimants as at 
31 March 2016 compared to 6,830 on 1 April 2013. As a result, the cost of 
the scheme has fallen from £5.67m in 2013/14 to £5.06m in 2016/17. This 
fall is due to a combination of demographic and economic factors, as well as 
the impact of welfare reforms.

3.9. Funding to support the scheme (for both pensioners and working age 
claimants) was transferred into the main local government finance 
settlement through Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and local share of 
business rates.  Initially this funding was separately identifiable in the 



CABINET
2 JUNE 2016

2013/14 settlement, but since 2014/15, it has been indistinguishable within 
the RSG and business rate baseline allocations. Effectively this means it 
has not been protected from past or future reductions in RSG. Although the 
costs of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme have reduced due to a lower 
claimant base, these reductions have been significantly less than the 
reductions in RSG and therefore a greater share of the cost burden is now 
falling on the billing authorities and the other major preceptors. The Council 
will therefore look to reduce the cost of the scheme moving forward, whilst 
continuing to have regard to the most vulnerable of its residents.

3.10. Kent Finance Officers have been working closely together to maintain a 
common approach to the design of the local schemes. A consultant has also 
been procured on behalf of the Kent districts and major precepting 
authorities to assist with the evaluation of alternative models and to advise 
on the public consultation process.

3.11. The following objectives are behind the Council’s review of its scheme:

   To retain the principle of residents paying a contribution towards the 
Council’s costs whilst having regard to the Council’s most vulnerable 
residents;

   To target support to those most in need;
   To align the scheme with national policy on changes to Housing 

Benefits;
   Having regard to the reductions in Government grant, to make the 

scheme less costly (if possible) and more efficient in terms of its 
operation.

3.12. As highlighted in paragraph 3.5 above, currently the major preceptors 
collectively make an annual contribution of £125,000 to each district towards 
the administration costs of the scheme. These contributions are currently 
used to fund staff to help support the scheme. Kent County Council bear the 
greatest impact on their council tax yield of the council tax discount and are 
therefore hoping to see an increased yield through the districts reducing the 
discounts awarded. Although the major preceptors cannot insist on any 
particular provisions within local schemes, were the Council to decide not to 
amend the scheme, the major preceptors may withdraw their administration 
contribution. If the funding were to be removed, the Council would either 
need to find savings of £125,000 to offset the loss or reduce staffing levels 
to support the scheme which could potentially have a negative impact on the 
Council’s collection rate. Therefore, in parallel with the review of the local 
schemes, representatives from the Kent district councils are working with 
the major precepting authorities to formulate a new funding model for 
assistance towards the administrative costs. At the time of writing, this work 
is at an early stage, however, it is likely that the model will include a smaller 
‘flat rate’ grant topped up by a share of any additional proceeds as a result 
of the taxbase increasing (i.e. incentive based). Clearly the arrangements 
will need to be sufficient to incentivise the districts to undertake the 
additional work whilst also being consistent across all districts and of a long-



CABINET
2 JUNE 2016

term nature to ensure certainty of funding. Discussions are underway in this 
regard, but Members can be assured that the major preceptors are 
committed to working with the districts towards a mutually acceptable 
solution. 

Options for change to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme

3.13. A wide range of options for potential change have been considered, in 
liaison with the consultant. These are shown at Appendix A.

3.14. Options 1 to 6 in Appendix A have been discounted. A number of these are 
based around introducing an income banded scheme. This would require 
additional information to be collated from claimants which would make 
administering the scheme more complex and expensive. It is also unlikely 
that the current Revenues and Benefits system could be easily adapted to 
accommodate this type of scheme. 

3.15. The most practical option, therefore, would be to maintain a scheme similar 
to the current scheme, but with some adjustments (identified as Option 7 (a-
h) in Appendix A). This is because:

   The current scheme is known to claimants and largely mirrors the 
housing benefit system;

   The Council’s Revenues and Benefits system is adapted for this type 
of scheme and would therefore require little additional cost; and

   Staff are familiar with the administration of this type of scheme and, 
as it is aligned to housing benefit, the Council can continue to take 
advantage of economies of scale.

3.16. Initially, the major precepting authorities had suggested that the districts 
seek to reduce the cost of the scheme through an increase in the minimum 
contribution rate (currently 18.5% for Dartford). However, evidence from 
around the country suggests that there is a ‘tipping point’ (somewhere 
between 20% and 25%) after which collection rates are affected 
significantly. This ‘tipping point’ tends to affect claimants on low or fixed 
incomes, particularly single persons and couples with no dependents. 
Increasing the minimum contribution rate that a working age claimant needs 
to pay beyond a ‘tipping point’ could be counter-productive and unrealistic. 
The option to increase the minimum contribution rate from 18.5% to 20% is 
included within the consultation (Option 7(a) in Appendix A) but Members 
may be minded to discount this when deciding on the final scheme, 
depending on the consultation responses, on the grounds that it could be 
seen as being indiscriminate and would impact on all those currently in need 
of support, regardless of their circumstances. 

3.17. It is suggested to Members that a combination of, or a selection from, 
Options 7 (a-h) in Appendix A be built into the current scheme. A number of 
these options will bring the Council Tax Reduction Scheme in line with 
national changes to the Housing Benefit scheme. 



CABINET
2 JUNE 2016

3.18. Members will note from Option 7(e) at Appendix A that it is not 
recommended to consult on the inclusion of Disability Living Allowance 
(DLA) and Personal Independence Payments (PIP) in the assessment of 
total income. This option is considered inappropriate because working age 
disabled claimants remain significantly less likely than non-disabled 
claimants to be able to increase their income through employment However, 
it is recommended ‘testing the water’ through the consultation process on 
the inclusion of child benefit and child maintenance in the assessment of 
total income. Until as recently as 2009, these income sources were not 
disregarded within the former Council Tax Benefit Scheme and some 
councils have reverted to including these income sources in their local CTR 
schemes. 

3.19.  Due to the potential impact of changes on vulnerable residents, it is 
considered that an exceptional hardship policy is integral to the new 
scheme. Whilst details of this policy still need to be drawn up, it is 
anticipated that this will be used to assist claimants who are in need of 
additional support with their council tax liability due to severe financial 
hardship.

3.20. It is therefore recommended that the Council retains a scheme similar to the 
current one but consults the public on the potential integration into the 
scheme of Options 7 (a-h) as set out in Appendix A. A combination of some, 
or all, of these possible options may be required in order to achieve the 
objective of reducing overall costs.

Other alternatives to changing the current scheme

3.21. The Supreme Court ruled in 2014 that the London Borough of Haringey’s 
consultation on its local scheme was unlawful because Haringey had failed 
to outline alternative methods for dealing with any cuts to funding. In light of 
this ruling, the Council must therefore consider alternative options other than 
changing the scheme, even though realistic alternative options are 
somewhat limited. Thus, whilst it is not the preferred solution, the following 
questions should be included within the public consultation. Were either of 
these options to be supported and implemented, the impact would affect all 
residents within the borough.

    Should council tax be increased for all council taxpayers to fund the 
CTR scheme?

    Should Council reserves be used to fund the scheme?

Consultation process

3.22. Prior to the implementation of any change to the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme, authorities are required to consult with the public. There have been 
a number of legal challenges to CTRS consultations. The guiding principles 



CABINET
2 JUNE 2016

which have been established through case-law for fair consultation and 
which have been adopted by this Council as part of its Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy are:

    Consultation must take place when the proposal is still at a formative 
stage;

    Sufficient reasons must be put forward for the proposal to allow for 
intelligent consideration and response;

    Adequate time must be given for consideration and response; and
    The product of consultation must be conscientiously taken into 

account.

3.23. The consultant has been working with the districts in order to prepare robust 
and consistent consultation material that can be individually branded by 
each district within Kent. Each district must consult on its own scheme and 
ultimately make its own decisions about the final scheme following the 
consultation.

3.24. All the Kent districts are intending going out to consultation at the same 
time. Consultation is to commence in June and will complete at the end of 
August, thus allowing twelve weeks for members of the public and other 
relevant stakeholders to comment.

3.25. The draft consultation documentation is shown at Appendix B. It is 
recommended that delegated authority be granted to the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) to finalise the consultation materials in consultation with 
the Leader and the Finance Portfolio Holder.

3.26. It is anticipated that the consultation will be primarily web-site based, but it 
will be important to write to all claimants to draw their attention to the 
consultation and encourage them to participate by providing hard copy 
documents as appropriate. Additionally, it will be important to involve 
stakeholder groups, such as the Citizens Advice Bureau, local debt advice 
agencies, registered social landlords and other organisations with a 
significant interest, to obtain their views.

3.27. There is also a duty to consult with the major precepting authorities who are 
statutory consultees. This has already commenced and will continue 
throughout the project. At the time of writing, all the major preceptors have 
advised that they are content with the proposals so far. 

4 Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Statutory requirement.



CABINET
2 JUNE 2016

5 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The cost of consultancy on the proposed scheme 
has been shared by all Kent authorities. The 
Council’s share of this is under £500 and can be met 
within existing budgets.

It is anticipated that there will be some direct costs 
associated with the consultation process, although 
these will be minimal.

The cost of awards made under the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme impact on the taxbase and 
thereby the council tax yield. The total cost of the 
Dartford scheme for 2016/17 is £5.06m of which 
£2.15m relates to pensioner discounts (as required 
by legislation) and £2.91m working age discounts 
determined under the local scheme. A large 
proportion of this cost is borne by the major 
preceptors. Dartford’s pro-rate share is 
approximately £540k (of which £310k relates to 
working age discounts). This assumes full collection 
of the discounted council tax bills. Currently the in-
year collection rate for working age claimants is 
84.6%. However, the proposed changes may 
potentially result in a reduction in the collection rate, 
although appropriate action and support would be 
given to those affected to help prevent this. If the 
cost of awards were to be reduced per the proposals 
in this report and assuming the collection rate is not 
adversely affected, this would mean that the 
Council’s taxbase would increase and overall 
council tax yield in turn would increase. 

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality 
Duty

The scheme is governed by the Local Government 
Finance Act 2013.

The Council has a statutory duty to consult on a 
proposed scheme. As mentioned in the body of the 
report, case law has determined the guiding 
principles for fair consultation. 

An initial Customer Access Review has been 
undertaken and is attached at Appendix C for 
Members’ approval to publish alongside the 
consultation document. A further assessment will be 
undertaken after the consultation results have been 
reviewed and before a final decision is taken.



CABINET
2 JUNE 2016

Crime and Disorder 
Duty

There are no Crime and Disorder implications.

Staffing Implications Resources will need to be monitored to ensure 
collection is maximised

Administrative 
Implications

See staffing implications above

Risk Assessment If consultation is not carried out appropriately, there 
is a risk of challenge once a decision is taken.

6 Appendices

Appendix A - Options considered by Kent Finance Officers’ Group
Appendix B - Draft consultation document
Appendix C - Draft Customer Access Review

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File
 Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Sarah Martin
01322 343402

Internal Services N/A



APPENDIX A

Review of Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
Options Considered by Kent Finance Officers’ Group

Option Commentary/Context Recommended for 
consultation?

1 Maintain current scheme (no change) One of the key objectives of reviewing the scheme is to align the scheme with 
national policy on HB to make the scheme easier to understand and to 
administer.
There are changes in HB coming which would mean by maintaining the current 
scheme, the CTR and Pension Age CTR / HB schemes would diverge.



2 Increase the level of support 
available to Working Age claimants 
to previous Council Tax Benefit 
Levels (up to 100% for all applicants)

Over 70 authorities nationally still allow up to 100% support for working age 
claimants. 
However, there would be divergence with the HB scheme if this proposal were to 
be adopted. 
Major preceptors would not support this option as it would lead to a reduced 
council tax yield for them and so they would likely withdraw their contribution 
towards the administration costs of the scheme.



3 Total Income Discount (Banded) 
Scheme

Calculate total income of applicant and partner (where applicable) and put in an 
income ‘band’. Bands to be determined.
Would make it simpler from claimants point of view, and there could be less 
ongoing changes to entitlement.
Currently no authority has a similar scheme in operation.
Would require additional information to be gathered from claimants and so would 
increase administration burden of the scheme.
Would need to pay for software changes (could be expensive).



4 Passported and Income Discount 
(Banded) Scheme

Identical to the previous scheme, however any applicant who receives a 
‘passported’ benefit from DWP would automatically be placed in most generous 
band, cutting down on administration.
Only one scheme like this in operation nationally.
Relatively simple to understand.  
Would not be aligned with either HB or CTR for pension age applicants. 





APPENDIX A

Option Commentary/Context Recommended for 
consultation?

5 Simplified Means Test leading to a 
Discount Band

Instead of individual applicants receiving individual levels of support, results from 
the means test currently carried out would be translated into a specific income 
band. If a claimant were to change their earnings, they may remain in the same 
band and changes to entitlement would not therefore be needed.
This would be simple for applicants to understand and may reduce 
administration costs.
It is unclear whether the current software could be adapted for this. It is likely 
that there would be additional software costs.



6 Total Household Income scheme Include all non-dependant (e.g. adult child) income in means test based on ethos 
that the whole household should contribute towards Council Tax.
One authority has implemented a similar scheme. 
More complicated to administer as details of all household incomes would need 
to be collected.  
Software currently would not allow for this information to be entered 
automatically and so this would become a manual process, thus increasing the 
administration side of the scheme.



7 Retain Current Scheme but make 
changes viz:

. 

a Increase the minimum % payable The Council currently requires working age claimants to pay a minimum of 
18.5% towards council tax.
Level of contribution varies significantly over the country, 76 councils having a nil 
contribution rate with 52 schemes having rates over 20%. Medway Council will 
be highest in Kent at 35% for 2016/17.
Evidence there is a “tipping point” somewhere between 20% and 25% after 
which collection rates are affected significantly. ‘Tipping point’ severely affects 
applicants on low or fixed incomes particularly single persons and couples with 
no dependants. Increasing the minimum % that a working age claimant needs to 
pay beyond a “tipping point” could be counter-productive and unrealistic.

Consider option of increasing minimum % to 20% 





APPENDIX A

Option Commentary/Context Recommended for 
consultation?

b Introduce maximum Council Tax 
band level within scheme

Any claimant living in a property within a higher Band would have their CTR 
restricted. For example, if maximum level is set at Band D, a claimant from a 
house banded  E,F,G or H would be limited in the support they receive to the 
equivalent of a Band D property.
A number of authorities have adopted this option with the banding that is used 
ranging from a Band D to as low as a band A. Within Kent, Band D would seem 
more appropriate as making this too low could disadvantage larger families.

Consider option of introducing a maximum band cap at Band D



c Remove Second Adult Rebate A taxpayer can presently apply for up to 25% reduction on their liability when an 
adult moves into their home who is on a low income.  The applicant would lose 
their single person discount but could apply for this reduction instead.  The 
reduction is assessed on the income of the second adult and not that of the 
taxpayer who could have any level of income or capital.

This has been removed in a number of authorities across the country and in East 
Kent.  There is a limited number of cases in Dartford so the impact would be 
small.

Consider option of removing Second Adult Rebate

    



d Reduce Capital limit Currently claimants are allowed to have capital (excluding property) of up to 
£16,000 and still be eligible to claim.  This limit could be reduced and it is 
suggested that this should be reduced to £6,000 or roughly 4 years’ worth of 
council tax.  

This is used in a number of schemes around the country and is relatively simple 
to administer within the system.

Consider option of reducing capital limit to £6,000





APPENDIX A

Option Commentary/Context Recommended for 
consultation?

e Include currently disregarded 
incomes in calculation of total income Certain incomes are currently disregarded in full when calculating entitlement for 

CTR.  Child Benefit and Child Maintenance were included (i.e. were not 
disregarded) within Council Tax Benefit Schemes until as recently as 2009.  
Nationally twenty two schemes have reverted to including this income within the 
assessment.  
Disability Living Allowance (DLA) and Personal Independence Payments (PIP) 
are currently considered when calculating discretionary housing payments but 
not included within the calculation of Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support.  
It is not proposed to disregard these elements within the revised scheme as 
working age disabled claimants remain significantly less likely than non-disabled 
claimants to be able to increase their income through employment.

Consider option of including child benefit and child maintenance 
payments in the assessment of income



f Introduce changes to non-dependant 
charges Currently, non-dependant deductions can vary from £0.00 to £11.45 depending 

on level of income. A standard charge would be easier to administer. It is 
suggested that a standard £10 per week be introduced.

Consider option of introducing a standard of £10 per week for non-
dependant deduction



g Introduce Minimum income floor for 
self -employed claimants Currently self-employed claimants are asked to declare their own level of 

income. Claims are difficult to administer and challenging self-declared income 
levels can be protracted and time consuming. The UC assessment criteria 
includes a clause whereby a self-employed claimant is allowed to declare nil 
income in their first year of operation and then after that initial period to establish 
the business they are then assessed at either their declared income or at a 
minimum income floor calculated at 35 hours per week times the living wage.  It 
may be necessary to consider an alternative for people who are unable to work 
full time (primarily single parents with young children).  

Consider introducing a minimum income floor for self-employed claimants 
(after a start-up period of say one year) based  upon the living wage at 35 
hours per week for full time or 16 hours a week for part-time workers 





APPENDIX A

Option Commentary/Context Recommended for 
consultation?

h Align Scheme with HB and Pension 
Age CTR changes

Central Government has announced significant changes to HB including the 
removal of certain premiums, a limitation on the number of dependants that can 
be included in the calculation, and the limiting of backdating.
If a scheme similar to the current one is retained, it will be important to ensure it 
is aligned with HB as far as possible to aid understanding as well as efficiency of 
processing. These changes will form part of the prescribed requirements for the 
Pension Age CTR scheme.

 Consider option of aligning regulations of ‘base’ CTR scheme with HB and 
(prescribed) Pension Age CTR scheme



i Change income tapers to incentivise 
work

The current taper for assessing CTR claims is 20%, consistent with the previous 
CTB scheme. Changing this would affect all claimants and would be similar to 
increasing the minimum % payable. 
Would also would mean changing the software to accommodate this which could 
be costly







APPENDIX B

Dartford Borough Council
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2017/18 Consultation

This consultation opens on xxx and closes on xxx.

We are considering making changes to the Council Tax Reduction scheme and would like your views to help us make a 
decision.

This is a complex issue. We would like you to read the following background information before giving your views.

Background information

What is Council Tax Reduction?
Council Tax Reduction is a Council Tax discount for eligible people on low incomes.  Currently the maximum discount is 81.5% for working age 
households and 100% for pensioner age households. 

Why is a change to the Council Tax Reduction scheme being considered?
Prior to April 2013, eligible people on low incomes could apply for Council Tax Benefit and receive up to 100% benefit. The Council received full 
funding from the Government to cover the costs of the benefits paid out.

Changes introduced by Central Government abolished Council Tax Benefit from 1 April 2013 and made local Councils responsible for setting up 
their own local Council Tax Reduction schemes for working age people. The Government also reduced the amount of funding to pay for the 
schemes. 

Since then, this funding has been reducing each year so there is now less money available to pay for the Council Tax Reduction scheme.



APPENDIX B
The Council is expecting to see continued reductions in Government funding. The Council therefore needs to consider how it will deal with this 
and whether the current scheme should be changed to meet the impact of the gap in funding. 

Who will this affect?
Working age households in the Borough who currently receive or who will apply for Council Tax Reduction.

Pension age households will not be affected because the amount of discount they receive is regulated by Central Government. However, 
Councils still have to fund the Pension Age Scheme from their Government funding.

What is the timetable?
The Council must have the 2017-18 Council Tax Reduction scheme approved by 31 January 2017 to commence on 1 April 2017 and must 
consult on any changes to the scheme.

What other consultation is undertaken?
The law says that we must include the major preceptors - Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue Service and Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioner - in an initial consultation about the proposed changes. The proposals set out in this consultation take account of their views.

How much does the Council Tax Reduction Scheme cost?
The estimated gross cost of the Council Tax Reduction scheme for 2016-17 is approximately £5.06 million (£2.15m for pensioner age 
households and £2.91m for working age households). The Council’s share of this cost is around 11% in line with the split of the Council Tax 
share with Kent County Council, Kent Police and Crime Commissioner and the Kent Fire and Rescue Service.

What are the Council Tax Reduction scheme options being considered?
There are fourteen options being considered for the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2017/18, which would reduce the cost of the scheme. 
The Council is looking to introduce some or all of these options within the new scheme (working age scheme only).
 
These options are described in the consultation questionnaire (below) where you have the opportunity to give your views. The potential 
impact and savings from the respective options are summarised in the table below:



APPENDIX B

Option Description
Estimated number 
of claimants 
affected

Estimated saving

to the Council

Estimated saving 
to

Kent CC, Police and 
Fire

Estimated 
total saving

Estimated 

weekly

loss to 

household 

Option 1

To reduce the maximum level of support for 
working age from 81.5% to 80%

    3,689 people    £6,261    £45,914    £52,175
£0.27

Option 2

To remove Family Premium for new 
claimants

    195 people    £4,247    £31,142    £35,389 £3.49

Option 3

To reduce backdating to 1 month     Minimal    Minimal    Minimal    Minimal Minimal

Option 4

To use a minimum level of income for self-
employed earners after 1 year self-
employment

    233 people    £18,955    £139,000    £157,955 £13.04



APPENDIX B

Option 5

To reduce the period for which a person can 
be absent from Great Britain and  receive 
Council Tax Reduction to 4 weeks

    Minimal    Minimal    Minimal    Minimal Minimal

Option 6

To reduce the capital limit from  £16,000 to 
£6,000 

Option 7

    39 people    £3,529    £25,878    £29,407 £14.50

To introduce a standard level of non- 
dependent deduction of £10 for claimants 

  343 people    £10,950    £80,301    £91,251
£5.12

Option 8

To include Child Maintenance  in 
assessments for Council Tax Reduction

   113 people    £4,729    £34,679    £39,408 £6.71

Option 9

To include Child Benefit in assessments for 
Council Tax Reduction

   

   716 people

  

   £23,898

 

  £175,251    £199,149
£5.35



APPENDIX B

Option 10

To restrict the  maximum level of Council 
Tax Reduction payable to a Band D charge

   131 people    £4,840   £35,493    £40,333
£5.92

Option 11

To remove Second Adult Reduction

    

  297 people

   

   £1,050

   

  £7,701

  

    £8,751 £0.57

Option 12

To remove the award of a Work Related 
Activity Component for all claimants who 
claim Employment and Support Allowance 
on or after 1st April 2017

    Minimal    Minimal    Minimal    Minimal Minimal

Option 13

To limit the number of dependent children 
within the calculation for Council Tax 
Reduction to a maximum of two.

    

  27 people

   

  £427

   

 £3,134

  

   £3,561

£2.53



APPENDIX B

Option 14

To introduce a scheme to help claimants 
suffering exceptional hardship

(The protection scheme will add additional costs to the 
scheme but it will be designed to protect the most 
vulnerable who are experiencing exceptional financial 
hardship)

    
Not applicable

Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
Not 
applicable



APPENDIX B

Questionnaire
Have Your Say on the Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Please note you do not have to answer all of the questions. Any views on any of the options will be welcome.

Q1. I have read the background information about the Council Tax Reduction Scheme:

 Yes  No

This question must be answered before you can continue.

Q2. Should the Council keep the current Council Tax Reduction scheme? (Should it continue to reduce Council Tax for applicants in the way 
and to the extent that it does at the moment?)

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q3. Please use the space below to make any comments you have on protecting the Council Tax Reduction scheme from cuts

 

 



APPENDIX B

Options to change the current Local Council Tax Reduction scheme

Option 1 – Reducing the maximum discount for working age claimants from 81.5% to 80%
The Council currently requires all working age claimants to make a minimum payment of 18.5% towards their Council Tax. This would increase 
to 20%. Reducing the maximum level of support available is a simple change which is easily understood. The Council is conscious that any 
minimum payment must be affordable given the household’s circumstances. The Council is minded that if this change is introduced, there 
would be a need to protect the most vulnerable households through the introduction of an exceptional hardship scheme.

The benefits of this are:
- It is a simple change to the scheme which is easy to understand.
- It is fair because everyone shares the increase.

The drawback of this is:
- All working age households receiving Council Tax Reduction will be required to pay more.

Q4. Do you agree with Option 1?

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q5. Your comments on Option 1 

 

 



APPENDIX B

Option 2 – Removing the Family Premium for all new working age applicants
When entitlement to Council Tax Reduction is calculated, working age claimants can currently get an extra allowance if they have at least one 
dependent child living with them. The allowance is currently £17.45 per week.  The removal of the family premium from 1 April 2017 for new 
claims only will bring the Council Tax Reduction scheme in line with the rules for Housing Benefit, which will no longer have a family premium. 
This change would not affect those on Universal Credit, Income Support, Income Related Employment Support and Allowance or Income Based 
Jobseeker’s Allowance.

The benefit of this is:
- It brings the Council Tax Reduction Scheme in line with Housing Benefit changes proposed by Central Government

The drawbacks of this are:
- New working age residents will see a reduction in the amount of support they receive.
- Some households with children will pay more.

Q6. Do you agree with Option 2?

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q7. Your comments on Option 2 

 

 

Option 3 – Reducing Backdating to 1 month
Currently claims for Council Tax Reduction from working age claimants can be backdated for up to 6 months where an applicant shows they 
could not claim at an earlier time. Central Government has reduced the period for Housing Benefit claims to 1 month. It is proposed under this 
option that the Council Tax Reduction Scheme be aligned with the changes for Housing Benefit and only allow backdating to 1 month.



APPENDIX B
The benefit of this is:
- It is a simple alteration to the scheme which is easy to understand when claiming Housing Benefit and Council Tax Reduction.

The drawback of this is:
- New working age residents may see a reduction in the amount of support they receive if they are unable to claim in time.

Q8. Do you agree with Option 3?

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q9. Your comments on Option 3 

 

 

Option 4 – Using a set income for self-employed earners after 1 years’ self-employment
In order to align Council Tax Reduction with Universal Credit, the Council proposes to use a minimum level of income for those who are self-
employed. This minimum level of income would be in line with the National Living Wage and would assume 35 hours are worked per week. 
Any income above this amount would be taken into account based on the actual amount earned. The income would not apply for a designated 
start-up period of one year from the start of the business. Variations would apply to part-time workers.

The benefits of this are:
- The treatment of income for self-employed claimants for Council Tax Reduction will be brought broadly into line with Universal Credit.
- It should encourage self-employed working age claimants to expand their business.

The drawback of this is:
- Where a working age claimant is self-employed and continues to run a business where their income is below the minimum living wage 

level, the Council will assume they earn at least the minimum level (based on a 35-hour week, regardless of the hours they work).



APPENDIX B

Q10. Do you agree with Option 4? 

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q11. Your comments on Option 4

 

 

Option 5 – Reducing the period for which a person can be absent from Great Britain and still receive Council Tax 
Reduction from 13 weeks to 4 weeks
Within the current scheme, applicants can be temporarily absent from Great Britain for up to 13 weeks without it affecting their Council Tax 
Reduction. This replicates the rule within Housing Benefit. Housing Benefit is being changed so that if a person is absent from Great Britain for 
a period of more than 4 weeks, their benefit will cease. It is proposed under this option that the Council Tax Reduction scheme is amended to 
reflect this forthcoming change.

The benefits of this are:
- The treatment of temporary absence will be brought into line with Housing Benefit.
- It is seen as fair.
- There are exceptions for certain occupations.

The drawback of this is:
- If a person is absent from Great Britain for a period which is likely to exceed 4 weeks, their Council Tax Reduction will cease from when 

they leave the Country. They will need to re-apply on their return.

Q12. Do you agree with Option 5?

 Yes  No  Don't know



APPENDIX B

Q13. Your comments on Option 5

 

 

Option 6 – Reducing the capital limit from the existing £16,000 to £6,000
At present, claimants with savings, capital and investments of more than £16,000 (excluding property) are not entitled to any Council Tax 
Reduction. Under this option, this limit would be reduced to £6,000.

The benefits of this are:
- Working age claimants with at least £6,000 in savings will be affected.
- There is a low risk to causing any financial hardship.

The drawback of this is:
- Where a working age claimant has savings in excess of £6,000, there will automatically be no entitlement to Council Tax Reduction.

Q14. Do you agree with Option 6? 

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q15. Your comments on Option 6

 



APPENDIX B
 

Option 7 – To introduce a standard non-dependent deduction of £10 for all working age claimants who have non-
dependents resident with them
Within the current system a deduction is made from Council Tax Reduction for any other resident within the property, other than the 
applicant’s partner or a student, who are 18 years old or over. That person would be expected to contribute towards the payment of Council 
Tax. At present the weekly deductions range from £0.00 to £11.45 per week according to weekly income. The range of deductions would be 
replaced by a standard £10 deduction, irrespective of the non-dependent’s financial circumstances.

The benefits of this are:
- It is simple to understand compared to the current rules.
- Some households who have deductions of more than £10 may see an increase in Council Tax Reduction than at present.

The drawback of this is:
- Some households who have deductions of less than £10 may see a decrease in Council Tax Reduction than at present.

Q16. Do you agree with Option 7 ?

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q17. Your comments on Option 7

 

 



APPENDIX B

Option 8 – To include in full any Child Maintenance paid to a claimant or partner in the calculation of Council Tax 
Reduction
Currently any payments of Child Maintenance paid to either the claimant or their partner is not taken into account when working out 
entitlement to Council Tax Reduction. This option would allow the Council to include any Child Maintenance in the calculation.

The benefit of this is:
- Some families receive high levels of child maintenance that are not taken into account.

The drawbacks of this are:
- It may discourage payments of Child Maintenance.
- Some families will receive less Council Tax Reduction.

Q18. Do you agree with Option 8? 

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q19. Your comments on Option 8

 

 

Option 9 – To include in full any Child Benefit paid to a claimant or partner in the calculation of Council Tax Reduction
Currently any payments of Child Benefit paid to either the claimant or their partner is not taken into account when working out entitlement to 
Council Tax Reduction. This proposal would allow the Council to include any Child Benefit in the calculation.

The benefit of this is:
- Some families receive high levels of Child Benefit that are not currently taken into account.



APPENDIX B

The drawbacks of this are:
- Some families will receive less Council Tax Reduction.

Q20. Do you agree with Option 9? 

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q21. Your comments on Option 9

 

 

Option 10 – To restrict the maximum level of Council Tax Reduction payable to the equivalent of a Band D charge
The current Council Tax Reduction scheme uses the full amount of Council Tax charge irrespective of the band of the property. There are eight 
Council Tax Bands, A to H, with Band D being the national average. It is proposed that where an applicant lives in a property which is Band E, F, 
G or H then the Council Tax Reduction will only be calculated on the basis of a Band D charge.

The benefit of this is:
- It can be seen as a fairer method of providing support with those claimants living in higher banded properties and receiving Council Tax 

Reduction having to pay more.

The drawbacks of this are:
- All working age claimants living in properties with a Council Tax band higher than Band D will have their Council Tax Reductions restricted.
- Reductions in awards will affect families living in larger properties.

Q22. Do you agree with Option 10?

 Yes  No  Don't know



APPENDIX B

Q23. Your comments on Option 10

 

 

Option 11 – To remove Second Adult Reduction form the Scheme
The current Council Tax Reduction scheme can grant a reduction up to 25% in certain cases where the income of a ‘second adult’ (not the 
applicant’s partner) who resides with the claimant is unemployed or has a low income. This option proposes to remove Second Adult 
Reduction.

The benefit of this is:
- It removes an element of the current scheme where the reduction bears no relationship to the income of the claimant.

The drawback of this is:
- A small number of people who currently receive Second Adult Reduction will no longer receive any support.

Q24. Do you agree with the removal of the Second Adult Reduction?

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q25. Your comments on Option 11

 

 



APPENDIX B

Option 12 – To remove the Work Related Activity Component (WRAC) in the calculation of Council Tax Reduction for 
new claims from applicants who are in receipt of Employment and Support Allowance
For households who are applying for Employment and Support Allowance (ESA), they have a Work Capability Assessment with the Department 
for Work and Pensions (DWP) to see the extent to which their illness or disability affects their ability to work. If the assessment places the 
applicant in a Work Related Activity Group, this means the DWP considers them capable of work at some time in the future. Anyone in a Work 
Related Activity Group can get the Work Related Activity Component (WRAC), an extra allowance/premium, when Council Tax Reduction is 
calculated. From April 2017, new applicants of ESA who are placed in the WRAC will no longer receive the WRAC component in either their ESA 
or within the calculation of Housing Benefit as it is being abolished. It is proposed that the Council Tax Reduction scheme is amended to reflect 
this change.

The benefits of this are:
- The treatment of ESA will be brought into line with Housing Benefit.
- It avoids additional costs to the Council Tax Reduction scheme.
- Persons receiving ESA will not experience any reduction in Council Tax Reduction.

There is no drawback

Q26. Do you agree with Option 12?

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q27. Your comments on Option 12

 

 



APPENDIX B
Option 13 – To limit the number of dependent children within the calculation of Council Tax Reduction to a maximum of 
two
Within the current scheme, claimants who have children are awarded a dependent’s addition of £66.90 per child within their applicable 
amounts. There is no limit to the number of dependent’s additions that can be awarded. From April 2017, Central Government will be limiting 
dependent’s additions in Universal Credit, Housing Benefit and Tax Credits to a maximum of two children. This will only affect households who 
have a third or subsequent child on or after 1st April 2017. It is proposed that the Council Tax Reduction Scheme is amended to reflect the 
changes in Housing Benefit and Central Government Benefits. There will be exceptions where: there are multiple births after 1st April 2017 
(and the household is not already at their maximum of two dependents within the calculation); adopted children or where households merge.

The benefits of this are:
- Council Tax Reduction will be brought into line with Housing Benefit, Universal Credit and Tax Credits.
- It is simple and administratively easy.

The drawbacks of this are:
- Claimants who have a third or subsequent child after 1st April 2017 (and are not exempt from the rules) will receive less Council Tax 

Reduction than a claimant who has more children born before 1st April 2017. 

Q28. Do you agree with Option 13?

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q29. Your comments on Option 13

 

 



APPENDIX B
Option 14 – To introduce a scheme, in addition to Council Tax Reduction, to help applicants suffering exceptional 
financial hardship
The option would introduce a scheme whereby, individual cases would be looked at on their own merit. This would:

 Provide greater flexibility to the Council to help those that need more financial help.
 Enable a safety net for those households suffering exceptional financial hardship.

The benefit of this is:
- It is a scheme that can be adapted to meet individual circumstances.

The drawback of this is:
- There will be some additional costs to the scheme.

Q30. Do you agree with Option 15?

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q31. Your comments on Option 15

 

 

Alternatives to reducing the amount of help provided by the Council Tax Reduction scheme

If the Council keeps the current scheme, we will need to find savings to help meet the expected reduction in Government funding. The options 
set out in this consultation could deliver savings. 



APPENDIX B

We have also thought about other ways to make the spending cuts we need to make and maintain the amount of financial support provided 
by the Council Tax Reduction scheme currently in place. These have not been completely rejected but at the moment we do not think we 
should implement them for the reasons given under each sub-heading below: 

We have considered:
1. Increasing the level of Council Tax

Increasing the level of Council Tax to keep the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme would mean all residents in the Borough paying 
more. The Council may need to hold a local referendum to ask residents to vote whether they would support such an increase.

2. Using the Council’s savings
Using our savings to protect the Council Tax Reduction scheme could be a short-term option. Once used, however, they will be gone and 
no longer available to support and invest in other Council services.

The Council also considered whether to consult on the inclusion of certain disability benefits, currently disregarded in the calculation of Council 
Tax Reduction, but did not feel this was appropriate because working age disabled claimants remain significantly less likely than non-disabled 
claimants to be able to increase their income through employment.

Q32. Do you think we should choose any of the following alternatives rather than the options set out earlier to changing the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme. Please select one answer for each source of funding.

Q32.1. Increase the level of Council Tax

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q32.2. Use the Council’s savings

 Yes  No  Don't know

Q33. If the Council were to choose these other alternatives to make savings, what would be your order of preference? Please rank in order 
of preference by writing a number from 1 – 2 in the boxes below, where 1 is the option that you would most prefer and 2 is the least.

Increase the level of Council Tax



APPENDIX B
Use the Council’s savings

Q34 Please use this space to make any other comments on the scheme
 

 

Q35 Please use the space below if you would like the Council to consider other options 

 

 



APPENDIX B

Q36 If you have any further comments or questions to make regarding the Council Tax Reduction scheme that you haven’t had the 
opportunity to raise, please use the space below

 

 



APPENDIX B
About You

We ask these questions:

1. To find out if different groups of people in the Council’s population have been able to take part in the consultation and identify if any 
groups have been excluded. This means it is not about you as an individual but to find out if people with similar characteristics have had 
their say.

2. To find out if different groups of people feel differently about the options and proposals in comparison to each other and all respondents. 
This means it is not about you as an individual but to find out if people with similar characteristics have answered in the same way or not.

This information is completely confidential and anonymous. Your personal information will not be passed on to anyone and your personal 
details will not be reported alongside your responses.

Q37.

Are you, or someone in your household, getting a Council Tax Reduction at this time?

 Yes  No  Don't know/Not sure

Q38.

What is your sex?

 Male  Female  Prefer not to say



APPENDIX B
Q39.

What is your age?

 18-24  25-34  35-44  45-54  55-64  65-74  75-84  85+  Prefer not to say

Q40.

Disability: Are your day to day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 
12 months?

 Yes  No  Don't know/Not sure  Prefer not to say

Q41.

Ethnic Origin: What is your ethnic group?

 Prefer not to say

White 

  British   Irish  Gypsy or Irish Traveller  Any other White background

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups



APPENDIX B
 White & Black African  White & Black Caribbean  White & Asian  Any other multi mixed background

Asian or Asian British

 Pakistani  Indian  Bangladeshi  Chinese  Any other Asian background

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British

 African  Caribbean  Any other Black background

Other Ethnic Group

 Arab Other – please specify below:



APPENDIX B
Next steps....

Thank you for completing the questionnaire.

Progress reports on the consultation will be added to our website: XXXX

You may submit further evidence, ideas or comments by email (XXXconsultations@XXX.gov.uk)

The consultation closes on dd/mmm/yyyy. 

We will listen carefully to what residents tell us and take the responses into consideration when making a final decision on the 2017/18 
scheme.

Following the decision, the full results from the consultation will be available on the Council's website.

The new scheme will start on 1 April 2017. The Council will consider the impact of the scheme annually and consult again if it thinks further 
changes need to be made.



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

Assessment details

Assessment area Local Scheme for Support for Council Tax 2017-18
Date of assessment May 2016
Directorate and Service Strategic (Internal) / Revenues and Benefits
Manager Nick Scott
Officer conducting assessment Sarah Martin
Step 1: Scoping the assessment

1 What are the aims and objectives of the activity or proposal? Dartford Borough Council’s local Council Tax Reduction Scheme has been in 
place since 1 April 2013, replacing the previous Council Tax Benefit Scheme. 
The scheme intends to assist people in financial need by the award of a 
reduction in their council tax. The aims of the current scheme are to:

 Provide support to the most vulnerable
 Assist with lifting the poorest off benefits and supporting them to work
 Minimise the risks of error and reducing financial risk to the Council
 Take account of the impact on non-claimants

Central Government funding to deliver the Council Tax Reduction Scheme on 
its inception was approximately 10% lower than the amounts given under the 
previous scheme. The funding has been further reducing each year and is 
now no longer separately identified within the Revenue Support Grant given 
to the Council. The Council also currently receives some funding support from 
Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue Service and Kent Police towards 
the administration costs of the scheme. 

The Council has decided that a full review should be undertaken on whether 
to make changes to the scheme in order to:

 Address potential shortfalls in funding due to the continued reduction in 
Central Government funding so that it can maintain an affordable and 
sustainable scheme moving forward 



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

 Ensure there is more accurate targeting of support to those applicants 
who most need it

 Align the scheme with proposed changes to Housing Benefit and the 
introduction of Universal Credit

 To ensure the Council continues to receive a contribution from the major 
preceptors towards the administration costs of the scheme

There are fourteen options being considered for the scheme to take effect 
from 1 April 2017: 

1. Reduce the maximum level of support for working age applicants from 
81.5% to 80%

2. Removing the Family Premium for all new working age applicants
3. Reduce backdating to 1 month
4. Using a set income for self-employed earners after 1 year’s self-

employment
5. Reduce the period for which a person can be absent from Great Britain 

and still receive Council Tax Reduction to 4 weeks
6. Reduce the capital limit from the existing £16,000 to £6,000
7. Introduce a standard level of non-dependent deduction of £10 for all 

claimants who have non-dependents resident with them
8. Take any Child Maintenance paid to a claimant or partner into account in 

full in the calculation of Council Tax Reduction
9. Take any Child Benefit paid to a claimant or partner into account in full in 

the calculation of Council Tax Reduction
10. Restrict the maximum level of Council Tax Reduction payable to the 

equivalent of a Band D change
11. Remove the Second Adult Reduction from the scheme
12. Remove the Work Related Activity Component (WRAC) in the calculation 

of Council Tax Reduction for new claims from applicants who are in 
receipt of Employment and Support Allowance

13. Limit the number of dependent children within the calculation for Council 
Tax Reduction to a maximum of two

14. Introduce a scheme, in addition to Council Tax Reduction, to help 
suffering exceptional financial hardship



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

Consideration has also been given to:

1. Increasing the level of Council Tax
2. Using the Council’s savings

The Council has also considered the inclusion of certain disability benefits, 
currently disregarded in assessments of Council Tax Reduction. This has 
been discounted as an option as it was not felt appropriate due to disabled 
claimants being significantly less likely than non-disabled claimants to be able 
to increase their income through employment.

2 Who will be affected? Changes to the Council Tax Reduction scheme will affect eligible working age 
applicants. Pension age applicants will not be affected because they are 
protected from any reduction in support as the level they receive is set by 
Central Government.

It will also affect:
1. Everyone liable to pay Council Tax in the borough
2. The Major Precepting authorities 

3 How does the activity or proposal contribute to:
a) any key performance indicators?
b) policies, values or objectives of Dartford Borough Council?

a) The Council monitors the Council Tax Support caseload under indicator 
LI CP/PS3 (BV9) and the percentage of Council Tax collected  under 
indicator BPI-25

b) The Council Tax Reduction Scheme relates to the Corporate Plan 2014-
17 theme of ‘A Council Performing Strongly’ which has a strategic aim to 
‘provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrate improvement’. Under this theme, the strategic objectives are 
to ‘deliver high quality services, offering value for money and 
demonstrating a culture of continuous improvement’ and ‘inform and 
consult residents and stakeholders about Council services’.

4 Which aspects of the activity or proposal are dictated by 
legislation/regulation and where do we have discretion in how 
they are delivered?

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 contains provisions to require local 
authorities to put in place their own localised council tax reduction scheme 
from April 2013. The Council has discretion in the ability to determine the level 
of support to working age applicants. The scheme for pension age applicants 
is determined by Central Government.

In making local schemes, the Council must give consideration to the effects of 



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

the options on working age applicants, in particular vulnerable groups. In 
considering this, the Council has existing responsibilities under the Equality 
Act 2010, Disabled Persons Act 1986, Housing Act 1996 and the Child Poverty 
Act 2010 (note: responsibilities for child poverty are now set out in the Welfare 
Reform Act 2016).

Step 2: Information collection  
Note: Equality and Diversity information for Dartford can be found at http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data   

5 What do you know about the groups of people who will be 
affected? i.e. demographic information in relation to the protected 
characteristic groups (age, disability, pregnancy and maternity, religion or 
belief, race, sex, sexual orientation, gender reassignment)

It is not required for council tax purposes to collate data relating to protected 
characteristics (other than disabled claimants and pensioners) and therefore 
this data is not available.
The split between working age claimants and pensioner age claimants, as at 
31st March 2016, is  3,594 and 2,277 respectively

6 What consultation has taken place with affected groups? Please 
describe who was consulted and the key findings

The Council consulted on the proposals to replace the Council Tax Benefit 
scheme in late Summer and Autumn 2012 and has not amended the scheme 
since. Consultation to obtain views on options for a revised scheme from 
2017-18 will take place between June and August 2016. 

The method of consultation will be via a web based questionnaire with hard 
copy documents as necessary. The consultation will be open to the general 
public, including existing claimants (both working age and pension age), 
council tax payers and service users generally, and interested organisations 
and groups.

Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue Service and Kent Police have 
been involved in initial consultation regarding the proposed options. The 
options set out in the consultation take account of their views.

7 Are there any gaps in information? If so, what additional research 
and/or consultation is needed to ensure that affected groups 
needs and views are taken into account? 

Data is not available on the protected characteristic groups (other than 
disabled claimants and pensioners). However, the changes proposed to the 
scheme would have no specific impact on the individual groups other than 
that for working age claimants generally.

As mentioned in question 6, the Council will be obtaining views of the general 
public, including existing claimants (both working age and pension age), 
council tax payers and service users generally, and interested organisations 
and groups. A further Customer Access Review assessment will be 

http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/information-and-data/Facts-and-figures-about-Kent/equality-and-diversity-data


Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

undertaken following the consultation exercise.

Step 3: Assessing the equality impact 

8 Consider whether the activity or proposal has or will have any positive or negative equality impacts on the protected characteristic groups in 
relation to the following aims of the General Equality Duty:

 

a) tackling unlawful discrimination
b) promoting equality of opportunity
c) promoting good relations

NOTES:
 The Initial Screening will have identified which aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty are relevant to the activity or proposal for consideration 
 For existing activities, consider how they are working in practice for each relevant protected group
 For new proposals, consider whether there is anything that could give rise to positive and negative equality impacts for each relevant protected group
 If there is no identified equality impact, please tick the ‘No Impact’ box and explain why in question 9 
 If the equality impact is unclear, please tick the ‘Unknown’ box and explain why in question 9

POSITIVE IMPACTS NEGATIVE IMPACTS NO IMPACT UNKNOWN
a Age Pension age claimants will be 

protected from the changes

The Council is proposing the 
adoption of an exceptional hardship 
policy which would be available for 
those claimants in most severe 
financial need.

Negative impacts depend on specific 
options. For example, if there is a 
reduction in the maximum level of 
support from 81.5% to 80%, every 
working-age claimant will see a 
reduction.

There is nothing in the scheme that 
reduces entitlement to LCTS based 
on age

☐ ☐

b Disability People with disabilities now receive 
on average more per week than 
people without disabilities. This is as 
a result of the current scheme 
treating people with disabilities more 
favourably by disregarding some 
incomes, resulting in a higher council 

Out of 2,277 working-age claimants, 
there are 1,266 who have a disability 
indicator of some type.

Certain disabled applicants may 
experience a reduction in overall 
support (as with other working age 

☐ ☐



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

tax reduction. The Council has 
discounted the inclusion of the 
Disability Living Allowance and 
Personal Independence Payments 
from the assessment of total income 
for the revised scheme. 

claimants) due to the proposed 
changes to the scheme

c Gender (including reassignment) All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally ☐ ☐

d Race All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally ☐ ☐

e Religion/Belief All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally ☐ ☐

f Sexual Orientation All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally ☐ ☐

g Pregnancy/Maternity All applicants will have access to the 
exceptional hardship policy should 
they experience exceptional financial 
hardship

Same impact as that for working age 
claimants generally ☐ ☐

9 If ‘no impact’ or ‘unknown’ was selected, 
please explain

There is no identified impact on the protected characteristic groups other than if they were of working 
age generally.   

10 If Dartford Borough Council works with 
partners to deliver the activity or proposal, 
please describe any circumstances that 
could give rise to positive or negative 
equality impacts between different groups

The Revenues and Benefits service is a shared partnership with Sevenoaks District Council. If both 
local authorities adopt different schemes, this may impact on the teams having to work within two 
different schemes.

The Council is currently receiving funding support from Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue 
Service and Kent Police and Crime Commissioner. Based on this review and the option/s adopted, 
will determine whether they will continue their funding. If the funding is withdrawn, the scheme will 
need to be reconsidered 



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

11 Any other comments Within the scope of the scheme the Council is aware that there would be a need to protect the most 
vulnerable households. Option 14 proposes the introduction of a targeted exceptional hardship 
scheme to enable the consideration of cases of hardship which will help mitigate any negative 
impacts. 

Step 4: Action plan  

11. Based on the information in Steps 1 to 3, please list the actions that will be taken to address:

a)  any gaps in information and consultation
b)  how any negative impacts on equality will be mitigated or eradicated 

a) If additional information and/or consultation is required or the impact is still unclear, what actions will you put in place to gather the information 
you need?

Information needs Action Intended outcome Date for completion How this will be 
monitored

Responsible officer

To obtain the views of 
the public

Web based 
questionnaire

To inform which options 
the Council should 
adopt

31 August 2016 Results of 
consultation will be 
analysed

Sarah Martin

                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            
b) If any negative impacts on equality were found, what actions will you put in place to mitigate or eradicate these impacts?  

Identified impacts (and 
who is affected)

Action Intended outcome Date for completion How this will be 
monitored

Responsible officer

To be assessed after 
consultation exercise

                                                                                                                                                                          

                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                            



Customer Access Review – Full Assessment APPENDIX C

December 2015

Step 5: Decision making and future monitoring

13 Which decision making process does this Customer Access Review 
need to go through? i.e. who does this need to be approved by?

Strategic Director (Internal)

Cabinet will be asked to consider this Customer Access Review assessment 
alongside the Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax report on 2 June 
2016.

The results of the consultation will go back to Cabinet and the Customer 
Access Review will be revised before a final decision on the scheme is 
taken

14 How will you continue to monitor the impact of the activity or 
proposal on the equality groups?

Annual review of scheme and impact

15 When will you review this Customer Access Review? On an annual basis

Step 6: Final steps

16 Once this Customer Access Review has been approved, send this assessment to the Policy & Projects Officer 
17 If the subject of the Customer Access Review is going to committee, summarise your findings in the committee report
18 Implement the actions identified from this Customer Access Review and ensure progress is monitored and recorded 



CABINET
2 JUNE 2016

Addendum

LOCAL SCHEME OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX - ADDENDUM

An additional option needs to be added to the consultation document to ensure that 
the Persons from Abroad rules within the Council Tax Reduction Scheme are aligned 
to the housing benefit scheme.

Option 15: To remove the entitlement to Council Tax Reduction for a claimant 
classified as a ‘Person from Abroad’ or subject to Immigration Control

This change would bring into line the Council Tax Reduction schemes for both 
working age claimants and pensioners and also bring the scheme in line with the 
housing benefit scheme.

This would only impact on a very small number of claimants.





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
13 September 2016

                                              

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16

1. Summary

To consider the work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee during the 2015-16   
municipal year.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the Scrutiny Committee 
draft Annual Report for 2015–16 (attached as Appendix A) be submitted to the 
next meeting of the General Assembly of the Council. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Scrutiny Committee’s Protocol and Terms of Reference (ToRs) as 
confirmed at Annual Council each year, requires the Committee to report 
annually to the General Assembly of the Council on its work. 

3.2. A copy of the Scrutiny Committee’s draft Annual Report for the 2015-16 
municipal cycle is attached at Appendix A for consideration.  The Scrutiny 
Committee’s Protocol and Terms of Reference (ToRs) are attached at 
appendices B and C respectively. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable

7. Appendices
Appendix A: draft Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2015-16;
Appendix B: Scrutiny Committee Protocol (January 2016)
Appendix C: Committee’s Terms of Reference (11 May 2016)



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
13 September 2016

                                              

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Scrutiny Committee Annual 
Report 2014-15, Agendas and 
Minutes (July 2015 – April 2016), 
Current Scrutiny Protocol and 
ToRs.

August 
2016

David Hook
Committee Coordinator

Member Services 
(01322 343276)

Member 
Services/

Monitoring 
Officer

N/A



SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

  Draft Annual Report 2015-16

APPENDIX A



Introduction and Background

The Council appointed the Scrutiny Committee in response to the Local 
Government Act 2000 in order to introduce more democracy into the decision 
making process and to ensure that those who make decisions are held 
accountable. 

The Committee performs the scrutiny function on behalf of the Council in 
accordance with the guidelines contained in its Protocol and Terms of 
Reference (ToRs) documents, as confirmed at Annual Council each year 
(attached as Appendices B and C respectively). 

The Committee’s remit is to contribute to improving Council services by 
holding decision makers to account to the ultimate benefit of the residents of 
the Borough. To achieve this aim the Committee may:

 Review and question Cabinet Members and Officers about decisions 
and performance;

 Scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy, 
objectives, performance targets and /or individual service areas;

 Make recommendations to the Cabinet, Council and other Committees 
arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process undertaken. 

Work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee compliments the work of the 
Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee and the Policy 
Overview Committee, whose separate remits are set out in their respective 
Protocols and ToRs. 

In compiling its work programme for the ensuing municipal year the Scrutiny 
Committee aims to avoid any duplication in work programme activities being 
undertaken by its sister Committees. 

The Committee’s Protocol [Appendix B] requires it to report to the Council 
annually on the work it has undertaken in the preceding municipal year. This 
Annual Report provides a summary of the Committee’s work undertaken 
during the previous 2015-16 municipal year. A comprehensive record of the 
Committee’s deliberations and actions in the period under review are 
contained in the individual Minutes of each meeting, as published in full on the 
Council’s website.

Annual Report  for the 2014-15 Municipal Cycle

On 7 July 2015 at the first meeting in the 2015-16 municipal cycle the 
Committee noted the contents of the draft Scrutiny Annual Report for the 
preceding 2014-15 municipal year and agreed that it be referred to the 
General Assembly of the Council for approval.



 

WORK PROGRAMME REVIEW 2015-16

The Committee is responsible for setting its own Work Programme for the 
ensuing municipal year and compiling a Work Plan (WP) to schedule its work.

At its meeting on 7 July 2015 the Committee agreed an initial WP for the 
current 2015-16 municipal year. Comprehensive details of the entire 
Programme of work undertaken by the Committee in the period under review 
is set out below. 

The Committee met four separate occasions during the 2015-16 municipal 
cycle to receive reports on individual WP items plus other topics Drawn-Down 
on an ad-hoc basis with the prior agreement of the Managing Director. The 
Committee also noted the published Regulation 9 Notice (formerly the 
Forward Plan and reviewed the Scrutiny Work Plan on each occasion. 

WORK PROGRAMME ITEMS completed in the 2015-16 MUNICIPAL YEAR

7July 2015

Item 1: Orchard Theatre Annual Report 2014-15 

The Committee considered the annual report for the management of the 
Orchard Theatre for the financial year ending 31 March 2015 as submitted by 
the Theatre’s Director, Mr Chris Glover of HQ Theatres. Key points included: 

 An 18% increase in attendances; 
 A 12% increase in total performances; 
 95% capacity rating;
 42% of all sales made to Dartford post codes. 

The 2014-15 pantomime ‘Peter Pan’ had starred Craig Revel Horwood of 
‘Strictly Come Dancing’ fame and had sold to 95% capacity.  The Orchard had 
enlarged their Christmas season programme to include Miracle on 34th Street, 
Christmas with the Rat Pack and a Christmas edition of That’ll Be the Day. 
Musical, Drama and Comedy programmes had all increased in the period 
under review and a Trip Advisor Certificate of Excellence for First Class 
customer service had also been gained by the Orchard for the first time.

The investment & refurbishment programme jointly funded by HQ Theatres 
and the Council had continued through-out 2014-15 with a new kitchen and 
renovated front house toilets completed and an air-cooling system installed in 
the auditorium and upper foyer prior to the Summer season. 
 



The Committee resolved to note the Annual report and Appendices for the 
management of The Orchard Theatre Dartford for the period 1 April 2014 to 
31 March 2015 and congratulated the Theatre’s Director and his staff on 
another excellent year of management of The Orchard. 

Item 2: Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2014-15

Members’ thanked the Committee Co-ordinator for his preparation of the 
Annual Report for 2014-15 and his general support through-out the period 
under review and commended the document to the General Assembly of the 
Council.

Members also asked that the contribution of the previous Chairman of the 
Committee (former Councillor and Shadow Leader Geoff Prout) be recognised 
and recorded in the Minutes.

Item 3: Scrutiny Work Plan 2015-16

The Committee resolved to note the initial Work Programme attached as 
Appendix A in the agenda and to give further consideration to additional items 
for discussion at future meetings in the remainder of the 2015-16 municipal 
cycle.

10 November 2015

Item 1: Scrutiny Work Plan 2015-16: Update

The Committee noted the new Scrutiny report template introduced by Member 
Services in August 2015 to enable Officers to better inform Members and 
resolved to note the Work Plan as set out in the published agenda for the 
remainder of the 2015-16 municipal year. 

2 February 2016

Item 1: Orchard Theatre Accounts 2014-15 Financial Year

The Committee reviewed the Director’s Report and Financial Statements for 
the Financial Year ended 31 March 2015 for the Orchard Theatre, Dartford.

The Orchard Theatre Director, Mr. Chris Glover summarised the salient points 
in the 2014/15 Financial Statements for the Committee and advised that: 
attendances, sales, programme content and profit margin for The Orchard 
had all increased during the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015.

The Orchard’s profile and involvement in the Dartford community had 
increased in the period under review. The Panto cast had switched on the 
2015 Christmas lights in the Town Centre, Orchard management had 
participated in the Town Centre Forum and Dartford Creative, in addition to 
holding discussions with local stakeholders over collaborative work in the 
Priory Shopping Centre. 



The Committee congratulated the Theatre Director and his team, on another 
excellent year of operation for The Orchard and resolved to note the Director’s 
Report and positive Financial Statements for the period 1 April 2014 to 31 
March 2015.

Item 2: Revised Scrutiny Committee Protocol & Role of Lead Members

Members considered a report from the Head of Legal Services which gave 
additional guidance on the role and responsibilities of Lead Members, 
including those who also sat on the Scrutiny Committee, and the process to 
be followed when those Lead Member’s areas of Cabinet responsibility 
became subject to scrutiny by the Committee. A revised Scrutiny Committee 
Protocol was attached as Appendix A to the report.

The Committee resolved to note and adopt the revised Scrutiny Committee 
Protocol as attached at Appendix A to the report and commended the Head of 
Legal Services for clarifying the position of Lead Members who also served on 
the Scrutiny Committee. 

19 April 2016

Item 1: Princes Park Annual Update

The Committee considered the Annual Update report on Prices Park including 
the extant Lease and Service Level Agreements (SLAs) between the Council 
and Dartford Football Club (DFC). 

Members were aided in their deliberations by the President of Dartford 
Football Club Mr Bill Archer, his fellow DFC Director Mr Jason Outram and the 
Council’s Leisure & Communities Officer.

The Chairman reprised the background to an annual update report on Princes 
Park being considered by the Scrutiny Committee each year. He advised that 
DFC received an annual grant from the Council (amounting to some £90K in 
the 2015/16 Financial Year) to provide facilities and services for the Dartford 
community under the terms of an agreed Service Level Agreement (SLA) due 
to conclude on 31 March 2017. 

The Chairman proposed that the Committee examine in greater detail the 
wider relationship between the Council and the Club in terms of community 
engagement and the provision of health and wellbeing initiatives for Dartford 
residents under the current SLA arrangements. Members were invited to pose 
questions to the Club’s representatives. The following principal points were 
confirmed for Members in a subsequent Q&A session with Club 
representatives and Council Officers:

 Ladies football at DFC had continued to flourish at Under 13, 14, 15 
and 16 level feeding players into the current Senior Ladies team. It was 
hoped to form a Post 16 educational football academy squad with 
Leigh Academy in September 2016;



 DFC had retained strong links with Millwall Ladies FC who continued to 
train and play some matches at Princes Park in the current 2016/17 
season, providing Dartford girls and ladies with an enhanced 
opportunity to play league football with Millwall Ladies FC at the 
second highest tier of the Ladies game in England;

 DFC’s Community Outreach Programme continued to provide 
strategically placed ‘outreach sites’ which provided Dartford youth with 
the opportunity to play football at every level in Kent including 
progression through the DFC Academy to the 1st team and beyond. 
The DFC Academy continued to be admired throughout the Football 
League; 

 Mini Pitch bookings had continued to grow quarter on quarter with 
additional bookings secured from the FA, Dartford District Sports and 
Tesco Skills, generating demand for a further Mini Pitch to meet the 
current waiting list for peak evening and week-end bookings. However 
securing mid-day bookings remained problematical with schools unable 
or unwilling to pay transportation costs for pupils to and from Princes 
Park, despite the offer of no pitch fees; 

The Chairman re-affirmed his objective for the Committee to examine the link 
between the Council and the Club and explore how DFC could help the 
Authority to fulfil its Corporate Objectives in the areas of community 
engagement and the provision of health and wellbeing initiatives. The new 
SLA between the Council and the Club [due to take effect from 1 April 2017] 
would offer a fresh opportunity to investigate the existing Health and 
Wellbeing initiatives in a formalised and accountable manner;

The Committee thanked the DFC President and his fellow Director for 
attending and responding to Members questions and paid tribute to the 
special relationship between the Club and the Council and the significant role 
Dartford Football Club played in the Dartford community.

ONE-OFF INVESTIGATIONS / DRAW DOWNS

7 July 2015

(i) Contract for Refuse Collection and Environmental Cleansing
- [Cabinet report of 24 July 2014]

  
The Committee considered an update report from the Waste & Parks 
Manager (W&PM) in response to the Chairman’s Draw-Down of the original 
report to Cabinet of July 2014. The update report informed Members of the 
rationale and background to the Council’s decision to extend the contract for 
Refuse Collection and Environmental Cleansing with Amey LG Ltd until June 
2019. 

Members were advised by the W&PM that the Council’s contract with Amey 
had been extended in July 2014 to June 2019 following extensive 



negotiations. Significant gains secured by the Council in the contract 
extension with Amey included: increased garden and medical waste 
collections, increased street and market cleansing and the commitment to 
invest in a new fleet of vehicles. Amey had met all the terms and conditions of 
the extended contract in the 12 month period to June 2015. Securing a 
contract extension with Amey to June 2019 had enabled the Council to avoid 
entering into a further 10 year industry standard agreement and retain options 
to secure further savings post June 2019 through joint working arrangements 
with other North West Kent local authorities.  

Members resolved to note the contents of the update report and expressed 
their thanks to the Waste & Parks Manager and the Leader and Lead Cabinet 
Member for attending proceedings and responding to Members’ concerns.

(ii) Award of Contract for Rebuild of Fairfield Pool and Leisure Centre 
[Cabinet 22 January 2015]

The Committee considered an update report from the Heritage, Events and 
Projects Manager (HEPM) which detailed the progress that had been made 
up to July 2015,  in the rebuilding of the Fairfield Pool and Leisure Centre 
complex. Details of the budget provision for the works and a summary of the 
procurement process employed by the Council for the project were advised 
within the Update.

Members received a briefing from the Cabinet Portfolio holder for Major 
Capital Projects on:

 the basis for the expansion project predicated on the re-building of the 
existing 1970’s pool facility; 

 the adoption of the Scape Procurement Framework for the works which 
offered significant savings for the Council in terms of project completion 
times and the selection and management of contractors and the 
attendant tendering process;

 the adoption of an ‘open book’ partnership arrangement with the 
principal contractor, Willmott Dixon rather than the time-consuming 
pan-European tendering process;

 accelerated design and reduced planning procedures afforded by the  
Scape Framework reducing the overall project time by 50%;

 early investigation of the existing structure under Scape leading to 
prompt discovery of and subsequent removal of asbestos;

 estimated final spend of £12M below the cap set by Cabinet on 22 
January 2015;

 February 2016 opening for the new expanded Fairfield facility. 

The Committee were also addressed by the Leader of the Council who 
provided additional background for Members:

 the rebuild and extension of the Fairfield facility had been a strategic 
issue which had evolved from an initial budget and timeline;



 bringing the Fairfield rebuild project in at the forecast £12M would 
represent a significant success and excellent value for money (VfM) for 
the Council and Dartford residents;

 in contrast, estimates for a full pan-European tender process for the 
Fairfield project had varied from between £18M to £27M;

 developing the existing Acacia complex to include a swimming pool 
had been estimated at £30M.

The Committee resolved to note the update report from the Heritage, Events 
and Projects Manager.

10 November 2015

(i) Reliability Issues with Fastrack

The topic had been drawn-down by the Chairman for discussion given the 
continuing deterioration in the reliability of the Arriva Fastrack A and B bus 
services to Dartford since January 2014. 

The Committee received a PowerPoint presentation from Arriva’s Commercial 
Development Manager (CDM) entitled ‘Fastrack Reliability’. Arriva accepted 
that the Fastrack A and B services to Dartford had gradually deteriorated 
since January 2014 but cited increased traffic congestion and roadworks as 
the principal causes for the decline, major factors that were outside the control 
of Arriva and fell to Kent County Council (KCC) to resolve. Discussions had 
been agreed for later in November 2015 between Arriva and KCC to address 
roadworks issues specific to Fastrack routes and the need for improved 
communications between Arriva and KCC over future roadworks directly 
affecting Fastrack.

Members also received a presentation from the Head of Public Transport for 
KCC, who also acknowledged the concerns of Dartford Members and 
recognized the need to improve the service provision for residents. Fastrack 
had been placed at the top of the KCC agenda during the previous 12 month 
period during which time the Service had benefitted from new vehicles, bus 
shelters and measures designed to improve network compliance but the 
adverse impact of roadworks on the Service was an acknowledged concern 
for KCC. He confirmed that discussions had been scheduled with Arriva for 
later that month over planned roadworks that directly impacted on Fastrack. In 
addition, he advised that County Hall had been addressing Fastrack traffic 
light issues and traffic flow in the Borough and he encouraged Dartford’s 
County Members to participate directly in that ongoing process. 

Members were advised of the new Fastrack Management Board, which 
comprised all Fastrack partners, including senior Officers from Dartford 
Council. The Board had been tasked with taking the Service forward, 
including consideration of the long-term strategic role for Fastrack in 
Dartford’s transport infrastructure model, and the need to  focus on improved 
Fastrack provision for the Borough in the next 12 month period against the 
background of continued roadworks in Dartford and the surrounding areas 
during that period. 



The Committee received a further presentation from Arriva’s Commercial 
Development Manager (CDM) regarding specific changes to the Fastrack 
service to Swanscombe and the public reaction to those measures. 

The Arriva and KCC guests were thanked by the Chairman for attending 
Scrutiny to respond to the concerns of Dartford Members and invited to return 
in November 2016 to update Members on progress towards an improved 
Fastrack service for Dartford.

(ii) Proposed Contracted Littering Enforcement Service
 [Cabinet Minute 153 of 7 March 2013]

The Chairman had drawn-down the Council’s proposed ‘Litter Enforcement 
Pilot Scheme’ for scrutiny by the Committee in its role as ‘critical friend’ to 
Cabinet. He had not questioned the need for a pilot scheme, but wished to 
examine Cabinet’s decision to appoint an outside contractor for the pilot rather 
than undertake an ‘in-house’ scheme using existing Council resources. He 
had also expressed concern over the apparent delay in timing for the pilot 
scheme to start in January 2016, given that the original Cabinet decision had 
been taken in March 2013.

The Committee was addressed by the Leader of the Council as Cabinet 
Chairman. He advised Members that littering had become pronounced in the 
Town Centre with cigarette butt littering increasingly prevalent. The Council 
had therefore decided to launch the 6 month pilot scheme in an effort to 
stimulate and re-educate Dartford residents, in particular smokers. The 
Strategic Director (External Services) confirmed that the Council held the 
appropriate powers to enforce such a scheme.

Members were advised that:

 the Council’s consultation process had secured an overwhelmingly 
positive mandate from the public;

 the Council’s chosen contractor, Kingdom, had a proven track record 
for producing positive results with local authorities;

 conducting an ‘in-house’ pilot scheme would have diverted the 
Council’s Enforcement team from their core duties;

 conducting an ‘in-house’ pilot would incur significant extra fiscal costs 
for the recruitment and training of Litter Enforcement Officers;

 the external pilot scheme with Kingdom required no significant 
investment by the Council;

 Kingdom, as the contractor, would bear the burden of managing the 
service in the Borough;

 the Council would be responsible for extra litter bin provision, keeping 
all Council owned areas litter free and educating the public to the 
benefits of a the litter Scheme, including pre-implementation publicity;

 The Scheme would be as governed by a Service Level Agreement 
(SLA) under the Council’s overall supervision and control. 



The Committee welcomed the background to and details of, the proposed 
Scheme provided by Cabinet Members and Officers and agreed in general 
terms that a litter enforcement pilot scheme was required in Dartford to re-
educate the public and tackle offending, as originally proposed by Cabinet in 
March 2013.  

2 February 2016

(i) Borough Recycling Targets: Cabinet December 2015

The Chairman had drawn-down the topic for scrutiny given that the Council 
had failed to meet its recycling target of 30% in the first 2 quarters of the 
2015-16 municipal cycle [Cabinet report of December 2015].

Members were advised by the Waste & Parks Manager (W&PM) that the 
Council’s recycling target of 30% was self-imposed, not mandatory. Failure to 
meet target in Q1 and Q2 in the 2015-16 cycle had been due to a variety of 
causes and underlying factors in the period under review:

 Dartford households had re-cycled less paper;

 Manufacturers had reduced materials and packaging for their products;

 The number and variety of products suitable for recycling had reduced;

 Material Recycling Facilities (MRF’s) were enforcing stricter standards 
to avoid food contamination from household waste presented for 
recycling by local authorities;

 Historically, recycling targets had aimed at maximum tonnage, but 
were now based on quality not quantity i.e. uncontaminated from food 
waste;

 Rubbish collection levels had increased an indication that residents 
were not separating their household waste for recycling. 

The W&PM responded to Member’s questions and confirmed the following 
specific points for the Committee:

 Only 5% of Dartford’s household waste went to landfill – the lowest 
percentage amongst English local authorities;

 69% of all Dartford household waste was incinerated and produced an 
energy benefit;

 26% of household waste was re-cycled [against a 30% target];
 The 30% target for recycling was ‘challenging’ but realistic and 

recognised the new industry standards; a target above 30% was 
unrealistic.

The Chairman noted that based on a re-cycling target of 30% Dartford lay in 
310th position amongst some 325 Local Authorities in England as monitored 



under the Waste Data Flow system. He proposed a benchmarking exercise to 
compare and judge Dartford’s recycling performance against that of similar 
sized Boroughs. 

The Leader of the Council responded in his capacity as Cabinet Chairman, 
together with the Lead Member for Waste, Recycling & Household Services.

Members were advised that:

 Dartford’s weekly refuse collection service discouraged residents from 
re-cycling - market research indicated that a fortnightly or even monthly 
refuse collection regime encouraged residents to separate out their 
waste and re-cycle more effectively, but;

 Dartford residents had twice voted overwhelmingly to retain the existing 
weekly collection and that customer demand had to be balanced 
against the Council’s self-imposed recycling target;

 ‘Benchmarking’ to contextualise Dartford’s recycling performance 
against peer authorities would not measure the important resident 
satisfaction factor that Dartford residents had consistently expressed 
with the Council’s current weekly household waste collection service;

 Effective and balanced service delivery was the Council’s priority, not 
meeting recycling targets which substantive opinion viewed as a 
redundant political paper chase to meet imposed European standards;

 The Council would not abandon its present target for recycling and was 
prepared to look at the performance of other comparable local 
authorities - but the priority remained a balanced service delivery to 
meet resident demand, not improving Dartford’s position in the national 
recycling league table;

 At present Dartford was 2nd in terms of performance within the West 
Kent Group of authorities, held a high-burn rate for the majority of its 
non-recyclable household waste and that only sent 5% of all its waste 
went to landfill sites;

 Dartford had met the 2020 target for the disposal of non-recyclable 
household waste 4 years early, produced the 2nd lowest kg of waste 
per household within the West Kent Group of local authorities and had 
the best dry recycling rates within the Group. The overall target for 
recycling remained the only challenge for the Council to meet by 2017.

The Committee discussed the benefits of a food waste collection service for 
Dartford to improve its recycling rates and help meet the self-imposed 30% 
target. Individual Members cited examples of effective food waste services 
run by Gravesham (on an in-house basis) and Ashford Councils which had 
contributed significantly to their recycling targets. 

The Waste & Parks Manager (W&PM) informed the Committee that food 
waste collection programmes entailed a significant financial outlay for local 
authorities. Gravesham Council had benefitted from a central government 
grant to fund its food waste collection service, funding not available to 
Dartford. A food collection service for Dartford would entail:

 The purchase of 6 specialised sealed unit collection vehicles;
 Separate food waste containers for residents;



 Attract annual running costs estimated at £600K;
 Require a 10% increase in Council Tax to achieve a 10% increase in 

re-cycling figures;
 Re-quire the current waste collection contract with Amey to be re-let to 

all bidders, losing the significant gains made by the Council during the 
July 2014 contract extension negotiations with Amey. 

The Chairman said that he understood the Council’s stated position as that of 
a balancing act between improving the Borough’s recycling rates whilst 
retaining overall customer satisfaction through a weekly household waste 
collection service; with customer satisfaction being the primary consideration 
for the Council. He asked what measures the Council had taken to achieve 
both objectives.

The Leader of the Council advised that the recently re-negotiated contract 
with Amey had targeted increased garden waste and kerbside collections and 
increasing the Green Bin service. The Council’s overall priority remained for a 
balanced service not simply pursuing targets for a better position in the re-
cycling league table. The Council had a good story to tell in terms of a 95% 
kerbside collection for household waste, only 5% going to landfill and food 
waste being incinerated to produce energy. Residents were being re-
educated concerning recycling through a high profile poster and leaflet 
scheme, run by the Kent Resource Partnership and jointly funded by KCC and 
Kent authorities. In addition, the Council’s Recycling Advisor talked to 
residents on a daily basis regarding recycling issues across the Borough and 
worked with schools to encourage re-cycling and reviewed Amey’s daily 
report on household’s which did not recycle and took appropriate action.

The Chairman thanked the Leader of the Council, the Lead Member for 
Waste, Recycling and Household Services and the Waste & Parks Manager 
for their contribution to the discussion and the background and detail they had 
provided; further to the report to Cabinet on 3 December 2015 regarding the 
Council’s household waste collection service and recycling targets.

19 April 2016

(i) Affordable Housing Completions (Cabinet 3 March 2016)

The Committee considered an update report which provided further 
information on the number of new affordable homes that had been completed 
in the Borough over the previous 3 (three) year period; following the report 
submitted to Cabinet on 3 March 2016 regarding Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators (Cabinet Min. No. 117).

Members were advised by the Head of Housing Services that the Council’s 
role in the provision of affordable housing in Dartford was one of facilitator. 
The aim was to enable the maximum number of units to be built on individual 
sites and to monitor delivery of those housing units within the context of the 
ongoing economic climate, rising land and housing costs and the availability 
of government funding.



In practical terms; the Council’s Development Control Board (DCB), supported 
by the Council’s Planning Policy, Housing and Legal Services Departments, 
with input from independent experts; approved new build projects and liaised 
with developers and housing associations to ensure that the provision of 
affordable housing was optimised and as far as possible, met the Borough’s 
housing needs. That perceived need was based primarily on housing the 900 
residents currently on the Council’s Housing Register.

The Committee were advised that housing targets and numbers of units were 
difficult to set and control in an unpredictable market. The demise of the 
Government’s grant to Housing Associations (HAs) had been a major factor 
for the affordable housing market and had reduced Association activity in 
terms of investment and future provision in the sector, particularly in relation 
to the provision of social rented accommodation. 

The Chairman welcomed Dartford’s achievement in topping the Kent 
Association table for the number of affordable housing units completed in 
2014/15 [as recorded in Appendix B to the report] but sought to place that 
achievement in the context of meeting the Borough’s overall housing need. 
He noted that the majority of Dartford’s affordable housing units completed in 
2014/15 had been discounted sales in contrast to other Kent authorities who 
had no discounted sales in 2014/15 but had greatly out-performed Dartford in 
the provision of affordable rental units. This made genuine like for like 
comparisons between Authorities in the ‘Kent table’ difficult to judge, and to 
an extent, not truly representative.

The Head of Housing Services advised Members that the ‘Kent table’ results 
were only one indicator of the Council’s success in a complex housing picture. 
Greater weight was given to the Performance Indicators (PIs) in the Council’s 
Quarterly Update report to the Resident’s Forum and the Housing Joint 
Liaison Group with Members. He noted Dartford’s relatively low figure for 
‘Affordable Rented ‘property built in 2014/15 and undertook to analyse the 
figures and report back to Members. However, he advised that the 
Government cut in grant to Housing Associations (HAs) had been the major 
factor to adversely affect the ‘Affordable Rented’ sector of the Housing market 
and had severely curtailed the ability of HAs to participate. This had, in turn, 
reduced provision of affordable rented property on a nation-wide basis.

Members were informed that the Council held planning permission for some 
80 new Council homes for rent with completion of the first tranche of 25 units 
on Temple Hill due in the Spring of 2016 with a further 6 homes in Temple Hill 
Square to follow. In the next 12 month period a further 51 homes were due to 
be completed at the Shaftesbury Lane site and 20 more homes planned in the 
subsequent 3 year period. 

Members discussed the need to increase the current and future provision of 
social housing in the Borough to meet both the existing need of the 900 
applicants on the Council’s Housing Register, and address future need in 
particular to attract key workers to Dartford. It was noted that Housing 
Associations were no longer interested in developing smaller sites for social 
housing projects [following the cut in the Government grant] and that Section 
106 agreements with developers remained the best tool at the Council’s 



disposal for the provision of mixed and varied social and affordable housing. 
Members noted that the terms of the Government’s new Housing and 
Planning Policy Bill [due to be presented to Parliament later that year] would 
hold the key to the provision of further social housing in the Borough, in 
particular with regard to possible Section 106 agreements with developers.

The Chairman acknowledged the usefulness of Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators (CPPIs) to record numbers of affordable housing units completed 
against target, as set out in the report to Cabinet of 3 March 2016. But he also 
expressed his concern that such Performance Indicators did not address the 
core issue, which was whether adequate provision of affordable housing for 
Dartford residents was being met currently and for the future. He proposed 
that Members examine the effectiveness of the Council’s current housing 
policy in meeting the needs of residents in the Borough in greater detail. 

Officers advised that the effectiveness of Council policy and Cabinet decisions 
[in furtherance of that policy] were the purview of the Policy Overview 
Committee (POC) and that Scrutiny Members should refer their concerns to 
POC for a balanced view and response.

The Committee noted the advice of Officers and thanked those present for 
contributing to Members understanding of the issues contained in the report to 
Cabinet of 3 March 2016 regarding Corporate Plan Performance Indicators. 

Members also expressed their concern over the current level of provision of 
social housing in the Borough for the 900 residents currently on the Council’s 
Housing Register and the possible implications for further Section 106 
agreements with developers posed by the Government’s new Housing and 
Planning Bill and resolved to refer those concerns to the Policy Overview 
Committee for consideration and response.   

  

(ii) Percentage of Urgent and Non-Urgent Repairs Completed on Time 
(Cabinet 3 March 2016)

The Committee considered an update report (following the original report to 
Cabinet of 3 March 2016) from the Council’s Housing Maintenance Manager. 
The Update report provided further information on the percentage of urgent 
and non-urgent repairs to Council properties completed on time. Members 
were informed that the re-active repair service for Council properties 
(undertaken by the contractor Breyer) had under-preformed in both the Urgent 
and Non-Urgent categories, in the final two (2) quarters of the 2015/16 cycle. 

The Head of Housing Services advised the Committee that the Council’s 
target of 98% for completion of both types of repair was viewed as ‘stretching’ 
but achievable. The target was also used as a tool to ensure the contractor 
did not become complacent. However, given that 25% of Council properties 
required no repairs and were never visited by the contractor; the 11,000 
repairs that had been completed on 3,000 properties in the 2015/16 period 
under review reflected a relatively high repair to property ratio. High tenant 
expectation was seen as a major contributory factor in this equation and both 



Performance Indicators (PIs) were being kept under regular review as a 
consequence. 

Members were informed that the current contract with Breyer was being 
reviewed with a view to either extending it (with annual break clauses) or to 
re-tender the contract to the market place where, it was estimated, that only 
10-12 contractors currently operating could meet the Council’s varied and 
complex needs.  

The Council viewed Breyer’s overall performance as good: in particular 
regarding the management of VOID properties and emergency repairs with a 
99.88% completion rate in the review period. Breyer attracted few complaints 
from residents and tenants with only 6.99% of repairs requiring a return visit 
based on a survey of 15% of the 11,000 repairs undertaken in the review 
period. There was no pattern of multiple returns or poor workmanship, data 
exchange with Breyer was open and transparent and the contractor was 
responding well to the minor ‘miss’ in repair targets in the last 2 (two) quarters 
of the 2015/16 cycle, which had been below the 5% penalty threshold. 

Quality of response times would continue to be a key factor for the Council if a 
contract extension with Breyer was to be approved. Any new contract would 
transfer the responsibility to the contractor for taking repair calls direct, to 
increase overall response times and efficiency, rather than via the Council’s 
Housing department as at present. A decision to extend the current contract 
with Breyer for 12 months with a strong ‘no-fault’ break clause [as dictated by 
the SD (IS) and the MD] was seen as a motivating factor for the company and 
the prospect of a further 2 year contractual arrangement regarded as a further 
encouragement for Breyer to perform to a high standard.

The Committee were advised that the Resident’s Forum, who continued to 
play a vital and active role in support of tenants and leaseholders in Council 
properties, were supportive of the proposal to extend the current maintenance 
contract with Breyer. 

Members resolved to note the Annual Report of the Committee’s work 
undertaken during the 2015-16 cycle and submit it to the General Assembly of 
the Council.





Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

1

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROTOCOL 

A ‘local government matter’ is defined as a matter which relates to the discharge of any function of the 
authority, affects all or part of the electoral area for which the Member is elected or any person who 
lives or works in that area and is not an ‘excluded matter’

Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 
and responsibilities, the scrutiny role performed by non-executive 
Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing local 
communities.

Terms of Reference To contribute to improving Council services by holding decision makers to 
account which ultimately benefits residents of the Borough of Dartford.

Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the Council 
(the GAC);
(b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations;
(c) Codes of Conduct;
(d) Secretary of State guidance issued from time to time.

Committee 
accountability

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority.

Elected Member 
accountability

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the 
Council's functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to 
ensure that the Council complies with the law and does not knowingly act 
unlawfully.

Compliance 
principles

The Committee will:
 Scrutinise and monitor the performance of the Cabinet, Officers and 

partner authorities in implementing decisions in line with the 
Council’s Strategic and Policy Framework;

 Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 
operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp 
the power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC;

 Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council;

 Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) 
on technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit;

 Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 
name;



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

2

 Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive overview and scrutiny activities.

Membership Committee membership cannot include any Cabinet member.

The Scrutiny Process 

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee can only discharge scrutiny functions relating o to 
any local government matter, but excluding crime and disorder/community safety functions.

1.What may be 
scrutinised

1.1 decisions made and/or actions taken in connection with the discharge of 
any of the Council’s and/or Cabinet’s functions;

1.2 performance of the Cabinet, Officers, Committees, Boards and Panels 
whether generally or in relation to service plans and targets, or in relation 
to particular decisions, initiatives or projects;

NB: scrutiny will not focus on day to day management and operational 
decisions, which are the proper concerns of Council managers and 
Officers.

1.3 performance of the Council in relation to policy and budgetary objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas;

1.4 any matter which affects the Borough of Dartford and its inhabitants; 

any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of health 
services in the Borough of Dartford by a local health service body (i.e. 
NHS Foundation trust etc.);

1.5 the planning, provision, operation and performance of other public 
bodies/organisations whose services affect the Borough;

1.6 Councillor Calls for Action (CCfAs);

1.7 local improvement targets. 



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

3

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of scrutinising decisions/actions of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. and/or the scrutiny/of the effects/outcomes of a 
decision post implementation

A.1 For each meeting of the Committee:

 through the Shadow Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in 
total for the Political Group on the Council forming the administration on 
the Council;

 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council;

 one item only for any other Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on 
a ‘first come first served basis’.

A.2 Subject to section A.6 of this Protocol, each Committee meeting may draw 
down for scrutiny purposes, no more than seven items in total.  These 
seven items may comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a 
Call-in, CCfA, the scrutiny of decision(s)/actions of the Cabinet/Officers, 
local improvement targets, local health service body etc.  Whatever 
combination is applied, the Committee is restricted to the scrutiny of seven 
items in total, per Committee meeting.

A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 
later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 
clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day 
on which the meeting is held).

(b) The need (if any) for participant representatives to appear before the 
Committee will be notified to Member Services by no later than noon 
on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' 
(sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 
midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the 
meeting is held).

A.4 Where the Committee wish to scrutinise an item for the purposes of 
examining the effect and outcomes of a decision/action etc. post 
implementation, drawing down the item may need to be delayed to a future 
date. 

NB: The focus of the scrutiny in such circumstances will be concerned with 
the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not reference was 
made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in any 
background document before the Committee.



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

4

A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 
the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance 
with section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion 
of the item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right 
of the Political Groups to sum up.

A.6 Although Scrutiny Committee and the Policy Overview Committee have 
different roles and responsibilities, the remit of the Committees may on 
occasions overlap.  Whilst draw downs and work programmes will need to 
have flexibility and their own broader topics and focus, the Scrutiny 
Committee will avoid any duplication in work programme activities and draw 
downs.

B. Requests for 
information

B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods 
of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will:

 detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s);

 the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report, background 
information, research, data, statistics, etc.;

 if applicable, identify the need for participants (Members, Officers and/or 
other external participants) to appear before the Committee (refer to the 
general principles on participation detailed in section D of this Protocol);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely 
topics to be raised on the item(s);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the 
purposes of putting questions to participants.

B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will notify the 
Managing Director and link officer of the partner organisation.  Where the 
request for information relates to a Cabinet decision/action, the Managing 
Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly. 



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

5

B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some 
or all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day 
period, the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and 
in any event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).  

B.4 Information will be depersonalised, unless the identification of an individual 
is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to properly 
exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data 
Protection Act 1998.  

B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 
proceedings or current or future operations of the Council, Cabinet etc.

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person.

B.7 Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972 as regards the 
categories of exempt information, reg.5 of the Local Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012, reg.26 of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013) and Standing Order 46(2) as regards 
confidential information, will apply to the proceedings of the Committee.

B.8 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the receipt of 
information, particularly where requests for additional information are made 
or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where there are 
costs implications associated with providing the information.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly.

B.9 To facilitate the scrutiny process, a partner authority (as defined in Chapter 
1 of Part 5 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (as amended) is under a duty to pro-actively provide information to 
the Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012).

C. Call-in of Cabinet 
decisions

C.1 This Call-in procedure will be operated in such a way as not to have a 
concomitant negative effect on the efficiency of Cabinet decision-making.

This Call-in procedure will only apply to Cabinet decisions/actions, subject 
to the restrictions/limitations detailed in sections C.8, C.9, C.11, C.13, C15 
and C.16 of this Protocol.

C.2 (a) Call-in will be by five Members of the Committee (involving 
representation of at least two political groups), in writing, to Member 
Services by no later than noon on the day before the Cabinet meeting.  
Member Services will notify the Cabinet Chairman of the Call-in.



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

6

(b) Once a member of the Committee has signed a Call-in, he/she may 
not do so again until a period of six months has expired.

C.3 A special meeting of the Committee may be called in accordance with the 
rules detailed in Standing Order 27 (Special Meetings of the Cabinet, 
Committees and Boards) and will be held before the next meeting of the 
Cabinet (Cabinet meetings are scheduled on a four weekly basis), with a 
view to reporting to the next Cabinet meeting. Where it is not possible for 
the Committee to report to the next Cabinet meeting, the Committee 
Chairman will consult with the Cabinet Chairman and agree a date for 
referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration.

Referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet will not be delayed by more than 4 
weeks from the date of the notice of Call-in.

C.4 Once a Call-in has been effected, the Cabinet may at its discretion, either:

(a) defer consideration of the proposed decision and/or action (the 
Deferred Decision) to its next scheduled meeting or where it is not 
possible for the Committee to report to the next scheduled meeting of 
the Cabinet, defer consideration until receipt of the Committee's report; 
or

(b) take the decision and/or action which decision/action will stand as 
suspended (the Suspended Decision) until the next scheduled meeting 
of the Cabinet or where the Call-in is referred to the GAC by the 
Committee, until referred back to the Cabinet by the GAC for 
reconsideration.

C.5 Following consideration of the Call-in, the Committee will, on a report 
(setting out the Committee's concerns, recommendations, conclusions, 
suggestions and/or comments), either refer the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet for 
consideration/reconsideration, or request a debate on the Call-in at the next 
ordinary meeting of the GAC, or if necessary, at an extraordinary meeting 
of the GAC, but subject to the rules detailed in Standing Order 1.(3) on the 
convening of extraordinary meetings.

C.6 On receipt of the Committee's report;

(a) the Cabinet will consider/reconsider the Deferred Decision/ 
Suspended Decision and the contents of the Committee's report 
before coming to a final decision. Providing the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision is not contrary to the budget or policy 
framework, the Cabinet may or may not amend the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision before reaching a final decision and 
implementing it; or

(b) the GAC will consider the Call-in and may object to the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision in which case the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision will be referred back to the Cabinet 
(with the GAC's views) for consideration/reconsideration.  Unless the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is contrary to the budget or 
policy framework, the Cabinet may choose whether to amend the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it.

NB: The GAC has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet 
decision unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly 
consistent with the budget or policy framework agreed/adopted by the 
Council.



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

7

C.7 Following the Cabinet's consideration of a Deferred Decision or 
reconsideration of a Suspended Decision, the decisions(s) will take effect 
i.e. be implemented immediately. In addition, a Suspended Decision will 
become effective:

(a) on the date of the GAC meeting where the Call-in has been referred to 
the GAC and the GAC does not object to the Suspended Decision 
and/or does not refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet.

(b) on the date of the Committee meeting, where the Committee does not 
refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet or to the GAC. 

C.8 A Call-in (i.e. the decision itself) cannot be the subject of further scrutiny 
after implementation, pursuant to the draw down mechanism detailed in 
section A of this Protocol.

NB: This restriction does not preclude a subsequent draw-down of the 
subject matter of the decision for purposes related for example, to 
topic scrutiny or reporting on matters of local concern.

C.9 This Call-in procedure will not apply to urgent Cabinet decisions and/or 
action to be taken by the Cabinet which need to be implemented urgently.  
The definition of 'urgency' means any matter of immediate urgency (i.e. 
where any delay likely to be caused by the Call-in would prejudice the 
Council's or the public's interest), making the prompt exercise of the 
powers of the Cabinet, in consultation with the Managing Director and the 
Monitoring Officer/Chief Finance Officer desirable and/or necessary and 
which cannot await the next meeting of the Cabinet, or the next ordinary 
meeting of the GAC.

NB: The definition of 'urgency' as detailed above, excludes urgent key 
decisions under Standing Order 54(8) (Special Urgency) and urgent 
departure decisions under Standing Order 55(3) (Decisions outside 
the Budget or Policy Framework).

C.10 Cabinet decisions and/or actions to be taken which are not subject to Call-
in will take effect, i.e. be implemented immediately.

C.11 Subject to the draw down rules in section A.2 of this Protocol, the 
Committee may only Call-in two decisions per three-month period.  

C.12 Key decisions of Officers, area committees/joint arrangements (referred to 
in the Cabinet's Forward Plan) may be subject to individual Call-in in 
accordance with the procedure detailed in this Protocol.

C.13 Call-in will not apply to urgent departure decisions (refer to Standing Order 
55(3)) and urgent key decisions (refer to Standing Order 54(8)).

C.14 The rules detailed in sections B and D of this Protocol will apply to an 
individual Call-in.

C.15 A CCfA does not provide an additional opportunity for a Cabinet decision to 
be challenged.  A previous Call-in will only be relevant, if the circumstances 
of the Call-in and the CCfA are clearly different. 

C.16 The operation of this Call-in procedure will be monitored annually by the 
Monitoring Officer and if necessary, a report submitted to the GAC with 
proposals for review.



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

8

D.Participants
D.1 The nature of a Call-in, the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic 

under scrutiny will generally determine who participates in the proceedings 
of the Committee.

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned 

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the 
giving of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and information being 
provided as to the nature and scope of the scrutiny:

Cabinet members and Council Officers

Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend 
Committee meetings, to give evidence, make representations and/or 
answer questions ((Section 21(13) Local Government Act 2000).

Health Service scrutiny

The Committee may require the attendance of any member or employee of 
a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to answer 
questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

D.3

D.3A

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence. 

Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact.

Lead Members 

Subject to the rules detailed in section D.7 (a) to (c) of this Protocol, Lead 
Members who are members of the Committee may be requested (but 
cannot be compelled) to make representations, answer questions or give 
evidence on their respective portfolios. 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors 

The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in 
the development of policies and may appoint experts, advisors and 
assessors to assist the Committee in the process.

D.5 Councillors who are not members of the Committee

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the 
Committee.

D.6 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the availability of 
a participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

9

accordingly.

D.7 Participation Rules

(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the 
discretion of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer 
participants, within the discretion of the Managing Director.

(b) Subject to paras. (a) and (c) of this section D.7 and section V.6 of this 
Protocol, any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee 
and with the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant 
portfolio. 

(c) Lead Members who are members of the Committee cannot be 
involved in the scrutiny process of their relevant portfolio unless they 
are substituted on the Committee and in doing so, the Lead Member’s 
role is limited to making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence on the subject matter. Once substituted, the Lead Member, 
as an ordinary member of the Committee, cannot vote at the meeting 
even if he/she is able to attend at a later stage of the meeting and can 
only speak with the permission of the Chairman.

(d) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers 
to above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure 
that junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction 
is consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights.

(e) The Chairman and Shadow Chairman (collectively), reserve the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or 
Managing Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the 
attendance of a named Cabinet member(s), Lead Members, Council 
Officer(s), and representative of the Responsible Person or relevant 
body, as participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen 
weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 
midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the 
meeting is held).

(f) Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 
investigation will not be called as participants.

(g) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 
Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(f) and 
(g) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of 
their particular issues.

(h) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session.

(i) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would 
be entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any 
question relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could 
not be answered without acknowledging or referring to possible 



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

10

inappropriate conduct/actions/inactions.

(j) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to 
provide their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the 
Committee on that evidence.

(k) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 
responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee.

(l) Participants may be asked to explain:

(i) what the policies are;

(ii) the justification and objectives of those policies;

(iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met;

(iv)how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 
policy measures and the manner of their implementation.

(m) Participants may be asked explain and justify;

• advice they have given prior to decisions being taken;
• decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 

Cabinet etc.

NB: far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 
discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is 
politically contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the 
Cabinet's policies and actions should always be consistent with the 
requirement for Officers to be politically neutral.



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

11

E. Councillor Calls for 
Action (CCfA)
E.1 Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule detailed in section E.2 and the 

restrictions detailed in sections E4, E5, E7 and E10 of this Protocol, any 
ward Member may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, any local 
government matter.

The flowchart at Annex 1 describes the CCfA procedure.

E.2 Excluded matters
A CCfA cannot be championed in relation to matters associated with crime 
and disorder, licensing, planning, or a matter where there is already a 
statutory right of review or appeal (other than the right to complain to the 
Local Government Ombudsman), or a matter which is vexatious, 
discriminatory or not reasonable to be included on the agenda for, or to be 
discussed at, a meeting of the Committee (reg. 3. of the Overview and 
Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 
2012). 

E.3 A matter does not fall within a description of an ‘excluded matter’ if it 
consists of an allegation that a function for which the Council is responsible 
has not been discharged at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on 
a systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or 
refers to an excluded matter.

E.4 Referral of a genuine, significant and persistent local community concern 
by the local ward Member as a CCfA for scrutiny is a measure of last 
resort, once other approaches for informal resolution have been exhausted.  
Local ward Members are advised to seek advice from the relevant Director 
before agreeing to champion a CCfA.

E.5 The CCfA may be referred for scrutiny on behalf of a constituent, or on the 
local ward Member’s own initiative, providing the local ward Member has 
the support of the local community and the Member does not have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the matter.  



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

12

E.6 The Committee may receive a CCfA via the Cabinet in circumstances 
where the local ward Member has declined to champion the CCfA and the 
constituent has then referred the issue to the Cabinet. 

E.7 Subject to the draw down rules at section A.2 of this Protocol, the referral of 
a CCfA to the Committee will be limited to one CCfA per meeting.  

E.8 The referral of a CCfA to the Committee by a local ward Member will be on 
written notification to Member Services, by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before a Committee meeting, i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).

E.9 The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol will apply. 

E.10 The acceptance of a CCfA will be at the discretion of the Committee.  In 
considering whether or not to accept a CCfA, the Committee may have 
regard to any representations made by the local ward Member as to why it 
would be appropriate for the Committee to accept the CCfA.

E.11 If the Committee decides not to accept the CCfA, Member Services will 
within 5 days’ of the meeting, formally notify the ward Member of the 
Committee’s decision and the reasons for it.  The Committee’s decision is 
final.  There is no right of appeal.

E.12 The local ward Member may address the Committee (but not vote) on the 
matter raised.  

E.13 Following consideration of a CCfA, the Committee may report or 
recommend accordingly to the GAC and/or the Cabinet, the Responsible 
Person, Kent County Council etc.  The rules detailed in sections H and M of 
this Protocol, will apply.  

E.14 The Committee may submit a copy of its report or recommendations to the 
local ward Member or await the GAC’s/Cabinet’s and/or other relevant 
body’s response before doing so.  

F. Committee member 
business

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A.2 of this Protocol, 
any Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 
21A(1) Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to the 
Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by giving 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).  

The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply. 



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

13

G. The duty to have 
regard to reports/
recommendations

G.1
When reviewing a decision made but not implemented, the Committee 
may recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the body that made 
it. 

G.2
The Committee may by notice require the Responsible Person to respond 
to its Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations within 28 days (or as soon 
as reasonably possible) of the date of the Scrutiny Report, indicating what 
(if any) action the body proposes to take (reg. 22(7) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013.  The same principles shall be applied to Cabinet and the 
GAC.

G.3
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee.

H. Health Service 
Scrutiny

 ‘Local Healthwatch organisation and ‘Local Healthwatch contractor 
have the meaning in sections 222 and 223 of the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended);

 ‘Referrer’ means a Local Healthwatch organisation or ‘Local 
Healthwatch contractor;

 ‘Responsible Person’ means a NHS body or a relevant health service 
provider as defined in the National Health Service Act 2006.

H.1 The Committee may scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, 
provision and operation of the health service in the Borough of Dartford 
(reg.21(1) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

14

H.2 When scrutinising the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service, the Committee must:

 invite interested parties to comment (reg.21(2)(a) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013); and
 take account of relevant information available to it and in particular, 

relevant information provided by a Referrer (reg.21(2)(b) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013).

H.3 Where a matter is referred to the Committee by a Referrer, the Committee 
must acknowledge receipt of the referral within 20 working days beginning 
with the date on which the referral was made and keep the Referrer 
informed of any action taken in relation to the matter (reg.21(3) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

H.4 The Responsible Person must provide the Committee with such information 
as the Committee may reasonably require (reg.26 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

H.5 Subject to reasonable notice in accordance with section D.2 of this Protocol 
of this Protocol, the Committee may require the attendance of any member 
or employee of a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to 
answer questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

H.6 The Committee may make reports and recommendations to a Responsible 
Person on any matter it has reviewed (reg.22(1) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

Reports and recommendations must under reg.22(6) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 include:
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed;
(b) a list of participants involved in the review; and
(c) an explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed.

H.7 Where the Committee requests a response from the Responsible Person, 
the Responsible Person must respond in writing within 28 days of the 
request (reg.22(7) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

H.8 Other than in circumstances where there is a risk to the safety or welfare of 
patients or staff, a Responsible Person is required to consult with the 
Committee on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to 
the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.23 Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013).



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

15

H.9 The Committee may comment on the Responsible Person’s proposal by 
the date specified by the Responsible Person (reg.23(4) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013).

H.10 In addition to commenting, the Committee may recommend accordingly to 
the Responsible Person in accordance with section J.6 of this Protocol.  
Where the Responsible Person disagrees with the Committee’s 
recommendation, the Responsible Person must notify the Committee and 
the Committee and the Responsible Person must take such reasonable 
steps to try to reach agreement on the recommendation (reg.23(5) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

H11 Where the Committee is not satisfied that the Responsible Person has 
adequately consulted or the reasons given by it are not adequate, subject 
to complying with regs. 23(7), (8), (10) & (11) of the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013, the Committee may report to the Secretary of State, who may direct 
accordingly (regs.23(9) and 25 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.  

J. Work programme

J.1
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council.

J.2
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided.

J.3 The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes.

K. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors

K.1
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may 
invite independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the 
overview and scrutiny process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task 
groups.  Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting 
rights and will not count for the purposes of establishing a quorum.

K.2 The criteria for selection will be;

(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 
knowledge of the subject in question;

(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 
be seen as prejudicial to their independence;

(c) (c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 
contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an 
employee, officer or member of the Kent County Council or the 
Responsible Person.



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

16

K.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to comply 
with the principles in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the 
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality.

K.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses.

K.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed.

K.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia:
 the corporate approach of the Council;
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations;
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice;
 vires and propriety of expenditure;
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports).

NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure.

L. Scrutiny reports 
and//or 
recommendations

L.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the Responsible 
Person, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by a Scrutiny Report prepared by the 
Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate Officer and 
the Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the preparation of 
committee reports.

L.2 The Scrutiny Report will include:
(a) an explanation of the matter scrutinised;
(b) a summary of the evidence considered;
(c) a list of the participants involved in the scrutiny exercise;
(d) any recommendations on the matter scrutinised, including where 

applicable, an indication of the costs associated with implementing the 
recommendations;

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s);

(f) the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s).



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

17

L.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 
be detailed in the Scrutiny Report.

L.4 The Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations will be published and sent to 
the link officer of the relevant body.

L.5 Where requested by the Committee, a ‘relevant body’ is under an  
obligation in accordance with section H of this Protocol to consider the 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations and respond to the Committee 
within 28 days (or as soon as reasonably possible) of the date of the 
Scrutiny Report, indicating what (if any) action the body proposes to take. 

L.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of the ‘relevant body’, attend 
its meeting and present the Scrutiny Report and answer questions.

L.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) 
who expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, 
refer a 'minority view' report to the ‘relevant body’ for consideration and 
provided they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial 
interest in the matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to 
attend the body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.  

L.8 If at all possible, Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations should be 
included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the ‘relevant body’ 
unless the matter which is the subject of the Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations is scheduled to be considered by the ‘relevant body’ 
within a period of four weeks from the date the Committee issues the 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations.  In such circumstances, the 
Committee's Scrutiny Report/recommendations will be considered by the 
‘relevant body’ in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item 
on the body’s agenda.

L.9 Only one Scrutiny Report per meeting of the ‘relevant body’ may be 
submitted by the Committee for consideration.

L.10 Following receipt of the ‘relevant body’s’ response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] ‘relevant 
body' either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the 
case may be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that 
the Committee considers that no further action is necessary.

L.11 Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be copied to the 
Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider a Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations until the Cabinet has had the opportunity to comment.

L.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates. 



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

18

M. Cabinet Key 
Decisions

Where the Cabinet has decided not to include a particular decision in a 
Regulation 9 Notice, but the Committee believes that it should have been 
included, the Committee may require the Cabinet to make a report on the 
decision to the GAC in accordance with Standing Order 54(9).  The 
Committee's consideration of any such matter will be in public, but subject 
to the rules on confidential and exempt information.

N. Monitoring Officer 
reports 

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is 
the subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet.

P. Consideration of 
items at meetings
P.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 

consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and 
including (iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in 
accordance with Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of:

 Call – in;

 decisions and/or actions of the Council, Cabinet and Officers; local 
health service body, Kent County Council;

 local improvement targets;

 MAA economic strategy action plans;

 Draw downs;

 CCfA;

 Key Decisions;

 any other local government matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s 
functions;

 Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters);

 Minority member business;

 Scrutiny Committee member business;

 Monitoring progress of agreed actions;

 Members’ Information Bulletin. 



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

19

Q.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b).

Q.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended.

Q.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or 
confidential information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant 
to an issue(s) before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)).

Q.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards 
and Panels of the Council. If a scrutiny investigation reveals potential 
disciplinary and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the 
Managing Director.

Q.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any scrutiny investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary to 
defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with.

Q.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council. 

R. Conduct of 
meetings
R.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 

exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply.

R.2 The access to information provisions relating to access to and inspection of 
agenda and connected reports and minutes as detailed in Standing Orders 
will apply.

R.3 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules 
detailed in Standing Order 15.

S. Task groups/
informal Member 
working group

S.1 Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at 
any time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task 
groups will be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and 
informally.

S.2 The Committee may appoint any of its Members to work informally with 
other bodies or authorities etc., particularly in relation to external or cross-
authority scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to the Committee’s 
functions.



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

20

S.3 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated respectively with overview and scrutiny (which is 
the preserve of the Committee and its sub-committees), the task group 
may contribute to or inform the overview or scrutiny process.

S.4 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members. The 
political balance rules need not apply.

S.5 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the 
evidence gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings 
will involve different skills from those required by traditional committee 
meetings.  The task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group 
members are clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the 
opportunity to pursue a line of questioning – via a number of 
supplementary questions if necessary.

S.6 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; 
and written submissions from participants.

S.7 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 
the record of their attendance. 

S.8 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  
The draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group 
Chairman before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Strategic 
Director for comment.

S.9 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Managing Director.

S.10 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations 
to the relevant body i.e. Kent County Council, Responsible Person, GAC 
and/or Cabinet with a note of the debate and any changes arising from the 
debate.

S.11 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration.

T. Sub-committees
T.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions 
to its sub-committees.

T.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated respectively 
with the scrutiny function.



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

21

U. Monitoring agreed 
actions
U.1 Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the 

Council, Cabinet etc. will be measured.  Progress against action plans will 
be monitored through Covalent [the Council’s performance management 
system] and reported to the Committee annually.

U.2 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee.

V. Declarations of 
interest
V.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 

of Conduct.

V.2 Representatives from the responsible authorities, co-operating body and 
other partner organisations are subject to their respective professional 
codes of conduct. 

V.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability.

V.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests 
become apparent to them. 

V.5 No Committee members may be involved in scrutinising a decision in 
which they have been directly involved.

V.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol, 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public 
gallery to observe the vote on the matter.



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

22

W. Regulatory bodies
W.1 The Council discharges a number of regulatory functions such as 

development control, licensing and other quasi-judicial functions, which 
cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet.

W.2 The Committee will not scrutinise individual decisions made by the 
Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Scrutiny of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations to the GAC relating to the discharge of any Regulatory 
Body’s functions.

W.3 Scrutiny of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman and 
the Shadow Chairman.  The rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will 
apply. 

X. Review of this 
Protocol

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required.



Appendix B

January 2016
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

23

ANNEX 1

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) FLOWCHART
CCfA request – local residents have concerns about significant and persistent problems in their area – they approach the local ward 
Member - local ward Member may also on their initiative, initiate a CCfA and gather support from their local community

First level response

Second level response

Third level response

Fourth level response

Fifth level response

In consultation with relevant Director, local ward Member considers 
whether to agree to champion or reject the CCfA - Log request

Concern not resolved – as last resort, concern referred to 
Scrutiny Committee  

Scrutiny Committee rejects CCFA (see 
Committee’s Protocol for procedure) Scrutiny Committee accepts CCfA and considers 

issue in accordance with Committee’s Protocol

Scrutiny Committee compiles report and 
recommendations to Cabinet/GAC, local health 
service body, KCC etc. (refer to Committee’s 
Protocol)

Local ward Member notified 
with written reasons

Cabinet/GAC, NHS body and KCC etc. consider 
recommendations and respond within 2 months, 
setting out reasons for any inaction

Scrutiny Committee considers and publishes 
responses to scrutiny recommendations Feedback to local ward Member 

Before agreeing, Director to 
undertake screening/filter 
checks (section 6 of Guide)

Refuse to champion  and 
provide constituent/local ward 
Member with written reasons for 
refusal

Agree to champion

First attempt to resolve the concerns informally in consultation 
with relevant parties e.g. Lead Member, CDRP etc. (section 
11 of Guide) – Log attempt to resolve Concern resolved 





APPENDIX C
D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L

ANNUAL MEETING
11 May 2016

STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS
OF THE COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference]

Chairman: Councillor J S Hawkes
Vice-Chairman: Councillor M J Davis
Membership: Councillors A Bardoe, J Burrell, R M Currans, P Cutler, 

J A Hayes, S R Jarnell, M B Kelly, C S McLean, 
M A Maddison, T A Maddison, J A Ozog, J M Ozog, D J 
Reynolds, A S Sandhu MBE and Mrs R F Storey.

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]

TERMS OF REFERENCE:
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS:

1. To perform the scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council within the guidelines detailed 
in the Committee's Protocol;

2. To submit reports to the Council on the following;

(a) any Cabinet decision which is likely to give rise to expenditure or savings above such 
thresholds as agreed by the Council;

(b) matters of local concern which are not the responsibility of the Council but which 
nevertheless affect the Borough and/or its inhabitants;

(c) a Cabinet decision which is likely to have a significant impact on two or more Wards;

(d) a non-urgent departure decision(s) which is;

(i) a Cabinet decision(s) (not yet implemented) which is contrary to the policy 
framework/budget;

(ii) a Cabinet decision(s) (which has been implemented) and which is considered to 
be contrary to the policy framework/budget).

NB: The Council has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet decision 
unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly consistent with the 
budget or policy framework approved/adopted by the Council. 

3. To appoint in accordance with Standing Order 58(4) such sub-committee(s) as the 
Committee considers appropriate to fulfil the scrutiny functions of the Committee.



4. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 
decisions proposed and/or action to be taken in accordance with the Call-in mechanism 
detailed in the Committee's Protocol.

5. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 
decisions after implementation i.e. post decision scrutiny, in accordance with the 
Committee's Protocol for the following purposes only:

(a) to seek more understanding of the decision and its implications;

(b) to question the soundness of the decision;

(c) to identify the need for Council policies to guide delegated decisions;

(d) to examine the effect and outcomes of the decision e.g. enquire into grants 
awarded by the Cabinet to voluntary organisations in the Borough to see how 
effectively expenditure has been targeted;

(e) to make recommendations, including proposals for changes to policies or practices, 
to the Cabinet.

NB: A decision(s) may only be scrutinised once.

6. To scrutinise the discharge of any other functions of the Council in accordance with the 
mechanism(s) detailed in the Committee's Protocol.

7. To report to the Cabinet and/or the Council in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol 
on matters of local concern.

8. To seek comments from other Committees/Boards in order to obtain a balanced view of 
the effects of Council policy and Cabinet decisions.

9. Where appropriate, and as part of the community consultation process, to seek input 
from Councillors (including Members of the Cabinet), Officers, other interested 
stakeholders and organisations and by drawing on the knowledge of constituents’ views.

10. To receive finalised documents relating to a key decision(s) in the Cabinet's forward 
plan.

11. To scrutinise Cabinet forward plans with a view to deciding which, if any, of the 
forthcoming Cabinet decisions the Committee wishes to enquire into.

12. To report annually to the Council on the work of the Committee.

13. To consider Monitoring Officer reports about lawfulness or maladministration, which 
relate to Cabinet functions and consider whether to hold a short enquiry into the matter 
the subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it.

14. To approve an annual scrutiny work programme in accordance with Standing Order 
58(8) including the programme of any sub-committee appointed by the Committee to 
ensure that there is efficient use of the Committee's (sub-committee's) time and that the 
potential for duplication of effort is minimised.



15. Health Scrutiny Functions

To scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service in the Borough of Dartford, in accordance with the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.

16. Discussion/Consultation Papers

To respond to discussion/consultation papers relating to matters connected/associated 
with the functions of the Committee (i.e. scrutiny) in accordance with the procedure set 
out in the Appendix to these Terms of Reference.

17. Councillor Calls for Action

To consider any local government matter relevant to the Council’s functions (other than 
crime and disorder) referred to the Committee by a local ward Member, under the 
Councillor Call for Action provisions in the Committee’s Protocol. 

NB: the matter must be a genuine, significant and persistent community concern referred 
to the Committee as a last resort, because the usual channels for raising the concern 
e.g. Council Officers, Cabinet, partner organisations etc. have been unsuccessful.  





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
13 September 2016

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2016-17

1. Summary

To identify items for inclusion in the Committee’s Work Programme for the 
2016 – 17 municipal year and allocate a timeframe accordingly.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the Committee agrees the proposed standard items as set out in the draft 
Work Plan (attached at Appendix A to the report) and identifies further topics for 
inclusion in the Work Programme for 2016-17 as appropriate.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Scrutiny Committee’s Terms of Reference make provision for the 
Committee to approve an Annual Scrutiny Work Programme.

3.2 The Committee is responsible for setting its own Work Programme   
and in doing so, the Committee will take into account the minority 
interest views held by Members on the Committee.

3.3 The programme should ensure that there is efficient use of the 
Committee’s time and that the potential for duplication of effort is 
minimised, especially with regard to the remits of the Crime and 
Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) and the Policy Overview Committees.

3.3 In considering whether a particular topic or function should be 
included in the Scrutiny Committee’s Work Programme, Members 
need to be mindful of the following:

(1) that the primary role of the Committee is to scrutinise 
decisions of the Cabinet that have either been taken or which are 
included in the Regulation 9 Notices for future consideration by 
Cabinet;

(2) that although the nature of the scrutiny will generally decide 
who participates in the discussion, inviting participation by other 
councils to give their experiences is not a scrutiny function, but 
one for the Policy Overview Committee, which undertakes the 
overview function to better inform future policy options;

(3) that discussions on policy statements fall to the Policy 
Overview Committee, with the overview function, not the Scrutiny 
Committee; and 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
13 September 2016

(4) that matters relating to crime and disorder, including anti-
social behaviour (ASB) and Community Safety, fall within the 
remit of the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) 
Committee.

3.4 Members are asked to suggest possible topics / areas for inclusion in 
the Committee’s Work Programme for 2016-17 as set out in the draft 
Work Plan at Appendix A. The Work Plan will be reviewed at each 
meeting during the forthcoming municipal cycle to allow new items to 
be added or the timing of existing items altered. The Work Plan will be 
supplemented through the established Draw-Down process.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A: draft Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2016-17

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

August 
2016

David Hook
Member Services 
(01322 343276)

Member 
Services 
MD

N/A



Draft SCRUTINY WORK PLAN 2016-17

13 September 2016 15 November 2016 7 February 2017 25 April 2017

Update: Dartford Cricket 
Club, Hesketh Park  

Orchard Theatre Annual Report 
2015-16  

Orchard Theatre Accounts 
2014-15 Financial Year

Princes Park Annual 
Update and Forward Plan

Update: Dartford 
Household Waste 
Disposal – KCC role  

Fastrack Update from Arriva and 
KCC reps.

Draw-Down(s) – t.b.a. Draw-Down(s) – t.b.a.

Scrutiny Committee 
Annual Report 2015-16

Draw-Down(s) – t.b.a. Review 2016-17 Work Plan  Consider Work Plan for 
2017-18

Draft Work Plan 2016-17 Review 2016-17 Work Plan Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice

Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 April 2016
	7 Regulation 9 Notice
	10 Local Scheme of Support for Council Tax (Draw-Down)
	Item10.App.A.CounciklTaxSupportScheme
	Item10.App.B.CounciklTaxSupportScheme
	Item10.AppC.CounciklTaxSupportScheme
	Item10.Addendum.CouncilTaxSupportScheme

	11 Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2015-16
	Appendix A draft 2015-16 Annual Report ScrutinyCommitte
	Appendix B ScrutinyCommitteeProtocol.January2016
	Appendix C Scrutiny Committee ToRs

	12 Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2016-17
	Appendix A - DRAFT ScrutinyWorkPlan2016-17


